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Important information 

This Base Prospectus has been prepared in accordance with Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 and is valid for a period 
of up to 12 months following its approval by Norwegian FSA. This Base Prospectus was approved by the Norwegian 
FSA on 24 September 2024. The prospectus for issuance of new bonds or other securities may for a period of up 
to 12 months from the date of the approval consist of this Base Prospectus and a Final Term to each issue. 

The Base Prospectus has been approved by the Norwegian FSA, as competent authority under Regulation (EU) 
2017/1129. The Norwegian FSA only approves this Base Prospectus as meeting the standards of completeness, 
comprehensibility and consistency imposed by Regulation (EU) 2017/1129. Such approval should not be 
considered as an endorsement of the Issuer that is the subject of this Base Prospectus. Investors should make their 
own assessment as to the suitability of investing in the securities. 

The template for Final Terms has been approved by the Norwegian FSA, as competent authority under Regulation 
(EU) 2017/1129. The Norwegian FSA only approves this template for Final Terms as meeting the standards of 
completeness, comprehensibility and consistency imposed by Regulation (EU) 2017/1129. Such approval should 
not be considered as an endorsement of the quality of the securities that are the subject of this template for Final 
Terms. Investors should make their own assessment as to the suitability of investing in the securities. 

The Base Prospectus is based on sources such as annual reports and publicly available information and forward-
looking information based on current expectations, estimates and projections about global economic conditions, as 
well as the economic conditions of the regions and industries that are major markets for SFL Corporation Ltd. (the 
“Company”, “SFL Corporation” or “we”). 

A prospective investor should consider carefully the factors set forth in Chapter 2 Risk factors, and elsewhere in the 
Prospectus, and should consult his or her own expert advisers as to the suitability of an investment in the bonds. 

IMPORTANT – EEA AND UK RETAIL INVESTORS - If the Final Terms in respect of any bonds includes a legend 
titled "Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail Investors" and/or "Prohibition of Sales to UK Retail Investors", the bonds 
are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise 
made available to any retail investor in the European Economic Area (the "EEA") and/or in the United Kingdom (the 
“UK”). Consequently no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No. 1286/2014 (as amended) (the 
"PRIIPs Regulation") (and for UK, as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA (the "UK PRIIPs 
Regulation")) for offering or selling the bonds or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the EEA 
and/or the UK has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the bonds or otherwise making them available to 
any retail investor in the EEA and/or the UK may be unlawful under the PRIIPs Regulation and/ or the UK PRIIPS 
Regulation. 

MiFID II product governance and/or UK MiFIR product governance – The Final Terms in respect of any bonds 
will include a legend titled “MiFID II product governance” and/or “UK MiFIR product governance” which will outline 
the target market assessment in respect of the bonds and which channels for distribution of the bonds are 
appropriate. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the bonds (a “distributor”) should take into 
consideration the target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to MiFID II is responsible for undertaking 
its own target market assessment in respect of the bonds (by either adopting or refining the target market 
assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels. 

The Joint Bookrunners, the Lead Manager and the Co-Managers and/or any of their affiliated companies and/or 
officers, directors and employees may be a market maker or hold a position in any instrument or related instrument 
discussed in this Base Prospectus and may perform or seek to perform financial advisory or banking services 
related to such instruments. The Joint Bookrunners', the Joint Lead Manager’s and the Co-Managers’ corporate 
finance department may act as manager or co-manager for this Company in private and/or public placement and/or 
resale not publicly available or commonly known. 

Copies of this Base Prospectus are not being mailed or otherwise distributed or sent in or into or made available in 
the United States. Persons receiving this document (including custodians, nominees and trustees) must not 
distribute or send such documents or any related documents in or into the United States. 

Other than in compliance with applicable United States securities laws, no solicitations are being made or will be 
made, directly or indirectly, in the United States. Securities will not be registered under the United States Securities 
Act of 1933 and may not be offered or sold in the United States without registration or an applicable exemption from 
registration requirements. 
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The distribution of the Base Prospectus may be limited by law also in other jurisdictions, for example in non-EEA 
countries. Approval of the Base Prospectus by Finanstilsynet (the “Norwegian FSA”) implies that the Base 
Prospectus may be used in any EEA country. No other measures have been taken to obtain authorisation to 
distribute the Base Prospectus in any jurisdiction where such action is required. 

The Base Prospectus dated 24 September 2024 together with a Final Terms and any supplements to these 
documents constitute the Prospectus. 

The content of this Base Prospectus does not constitute legal, financial or tax advice and potential investors should 
seek legal, financial and/or tax advice. 

Unless otherwise stated, this Base Prospectus is subject to Norwegian law. In the event of any dispute regarding 
the Base Prospectus, Norwegian law will apply. 
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1 Risk factors 
Investing in bonds issued by SFL Corporation Ltd. involves inherent risks. 

As the Company is the parent company of the Group, and a holding company, the risk factors for the Group are 
deemed to be equivalent for the purpose of this Base Prospectus. 

The risks and uncertainties described in the Prospectus are risks of which the Company is aware and that the 
Company considers to be material to its business. If any of these risks were to occur, the Company’s business, 
financial position, operating results or cash flows could be materially adversely affected, and the Company could 
be unable to pay interest, principal or other amounts on or in connection with the bonds. Prospective investors 
should carefully consider, among other things, the risk factors set out in this Base Prospectus, before making an 
investment decision. The risk factors set out in this Base Prospectus and the Final Terms cover the Company and 
the bonds issued by the Company, respectively. 

An investment in the bonds is suitable only for investors who understand the risk factors associated with this type 
of investment and who can afford a loss of all or part of their investment. Any investor must conduct its own 
investigations and analysis of the Company and should consult his or her own expert advisors as to the suitability 
of any investment. 

1.1 Market risk 

Cyclicality and volatility within the maritime industry may lead to reduced revenues and profitability 

The international seaborne transportation industry is both cyclical and volatile in terms of charter rates and 
profitability. The degree of charter rate volatility for vessels has varied widely. A worsening of current global 
economic conditions may cause the charter rates applicable to the Company's vessels to decline and thereby 
adversely affect the Company's ability to charter or re-charter its vessels and any renewal or replacement charters 
that it enters into, may not be sufficient to allow the Company to operate its vessels profitably. In addition, armed 
conflicts, including those in Ukraine, in Israel and Gaza and in the Red Sea, disrupt energy production and trade 
patterns, including shipping in the Black Sea and elsewhere, and its impact on energy demand and costs is expected 
to remain uncertain. Fluctuations in charter rates result from changes in the supply and demand for vessel capacity 
and changes in the supply and demand for energy resources, commodities, semi-finished and finished consumer 
and industrial products internationally carried at sea. The supply of vessels generally increases with deliveries of 
new vessels and decreases with the scrapping of older vessels, conversion of vessels to other uses, such as floating 
production and storage facilities, and loss of tonnage as a result of casualties. If the Company enters into a charter 
when charterhire rates are low, the Company’s revenues and earnings will be adversely affected. In addition, a 
decline in charterhire rates is likely to cause the market value of the Company’s vessels to decline. The Company 
cannot assure that it will be able to successfully charter its vessels in the future or renew its existing charters at 
rates sufficient to allow it to operate its business profitably, or a reduced or unprofitable rates or may not be able to 
charter its vessels at all, meet its obligations or pay dividends to its shareholders. The factors affecting the supply 
and demand for vessels are outside of the Company’s control, and the nature, timing and degree of changes in 
industry conditions are unpredictable. 

Factors that influence demand for vessel capacity include: 

• supply and demand for energy resources, commodities, semi-finished and finished consumer and 
industrial products; 

• national policies regarding strategic oil inventories (including if strategic reserves are set at a lower level 
in the future as oil decreases in the energy mix); 

• changes in the exploration for and production of energy resources, commodities, semi-finished and 
finished consumer and industrial products; 

• changes in the production levels of crude oil (including in particular production by OPEC, the U.S. and 
other key producers); 

• any restriction on crude oil production imposed by OPEC and non-OPEC oil producing countries; 

• the location of regional and global production and manufacturing facilities; 

• the location of consuming regions for energy resources, commodities, semi-finished and finished 
consumer and industrial products; 

• competition from and supply of and demand for, alternative sources of energy; 
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• the globalization of production and manufacturing; 

• global and regional economic and political conditions, disruptions and developments in international 
trade, including the increased vessel attacks and piracy in the Red Sea in connection with the conflict 
between Israel and Hamas and fluctuations in industrial and agricultural production; 

• economic slowdowns caused by public health events such as the previous COVID-19 pandemic; 

• regional availability of refining capacity and inventories compared to geographies of oil production 
regions; 

• changes in seaborne and other transportation patterns, including the distance cargo is transported by 
sea, changes in the price of crude oil and related benchmarks, and changes in trade patterns; 

• environmental concerns and uncertainty around new regulations in relation to, amongst others, new 
technologies which may delay the ordering of new vessels; 

• international sanctions, embargoes, import and export restrictions, nationalizations, piracy, terrorist 
attacks and armed conflicts, including the conflicts between Russia and Ukraine and between Israel and 
Hamas;  

• changes in government subsidies of shipbuilding;  

• construction or expansion of new or existing pipelines or railways; and  

• currency exchange rates, most importantly versus the United States Dollar, or USD. 

 

Factors that influence the supply of vessel capacity include: 

• supply and demand for energy resources (including alternative energy sources) and oil and petroleum 
products; 

• the number and size of newbuilding orders and deliveries, including slippage in deliveries, as may be 
impacted by the availability of financing for shipping activity; 

• the degree of scrapping or recycling of older vessels, depending, among other things, on scrapping or 
recycling rates or international scrapping or recycling regulations; 

• the price of steel and vessel equipment; 

• product imbalances (affecting the level of trading activity) and developments in international trade; 

• changes in environmental and other regulations that may limit the useful lives of vessels; 

• the number of vessels that are out of service, namely those that are laid-up, dry-docked, arrested, 
awaiting repairs after damage or accident, used as storage units, or otherwise not available for hire; 

• availability of financing for new vessels and shipping activity; 

• changes in national or international regulations that may effectively cause reductions in the carrying 
capacity of vessels or early obsolescence of tonnage; 

• changes in environmental and other regulations that may limit the useful lives of vessels or require costly 
overhauls; 

• port and/or canal congestion, and weather delays; 

• business disruptions, including supply chain disruptions and congestion, due to natural and other 
disasters; 

• sanctions (in particular sanctions on Russia, Iran and Venezuela, among other countries and 
individuals); and 

• technological advances in vessel design, capacity, propulsion technology and fuel consumption 
efficiency. 

Demand for the Company’s vessels and charter rates are dependent upon, among other things, seasonal and 
regional changes in demand and changes to the capacity of the world fleet. The Company believes the capacity of 
the world fleet is likely to increase, and there can be no assurance that global economic growth will be at a rate 
sufficient to utilize this new capacity. Continued adverse economic, political or social conditions or other 
developments could further negatively impact charter rates, and therefore have a material adverse effect on the 
Company’s business, results of operations and ability to pay dividends. 



SFL Corporation Ltd., 24 September 2024 
 
Base Prospectus 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

7  

The charter-free market value of the Company’s vessels and drilling units may increase or decrease depending on 
the level of supply and demand for vessels and drilling units. Furthermore, the charter-free market value may be 
affected by a number of other factors, including, but not limited to, the prevailing level of charter rates and dayrates, 
general economic and market conditions affecting the international shipping and offshore drilling industries, types, 
sizes and ages of vessels and drilling units, availability of or developments in other modes of transportation, 
competition from other companies, cost of newbuildings, governmental or other regulations and technological 
advances. 

Cyclicality and competition within the offshore contract drilling industry 

The offshore contract drilling industry is highly competitive, and the Company's contracts are traditionally awarded 
on a competitive bid basis. Pricing, safety records and competency are key factors in determining which qualified 
contractor is awarded a contract. Rig availability, location and technical capabilities also can be significant factors 
in the determination. If the Company is not able to compete successfully, its revenues and profitability may decline. 

Given the high capital requirements that are inherent in the offshore drilling industry, the Company may also be 
unable to invest in new technologies or expand in the future as may be necessary for it to succeed in this industry, 
while the Company's larger competitors with superior financial resources, and in many cases less leverage, may 
be able to respond more rapidly to changing market demands and compete more efficiently on price for drillship 
and drilling rig employment. The Company may not be able to maintain its competitive position, and it believes that 
competition for contracts will continue to be intense in the future. The Company's inability to compete successfully 
in the offshore drilling industry may reduce its revenues and profitability. Demand for offshore contract drilling 
services is highly cyclical, which is primarily driven by the demand for drilling rigs and the available supply of drilling 
rigs. 

Demand for drilling rigs is driven by the levels of offshore exploration and development conducted by oil and natural 
gas companies, which is beyond the Company's control and may fluctuate substantially from year-to-year and from 
region-to-region. 

Prolonged periods of reduced demand or excess rig supply have required (and may in the future require) the 
Company, to idle, sell or scrap rigs and enter into low day rate contracts or contracts with unfavorable terms. There 
can be no assurance that the current demand for drilling rigs will increase in the future or that any short-term 
improvement to market conditions will be sustained. Any further decline in demand for drilling rigs or oversupply of 
drilling rigs could materially adversely affect the Company's financial position, operating results or cash flows. 

The offshore drilling charter market is correlated to the oil price (Brent crude spot) which has experienced significant 
volatility during the last decade. Additionally, the offshore drilling industry is dependent on demand for services from 
the oil and gas exploration and production industry, and, accordingly, the charterers of the Company's drilling rigs 
are directly affected by the adoption of laws and regulations that, for economic, environmental or other policy 
reasons, curtail exploration and development drilling for oil and gas. 

While the Company has been able to charter its jack-up rig and semi-submersible drilling rig, it may not be able to 
recharter them in the future on similar or better terms. 

Financial instability, increasing ESG scrutiny and risks relating to refinancing 

SFL is affected by major market disruptions and adverse changes in market conditions and the regulatory climate, 
notably in regions such as China, the United States, and the European Union. These factors may significantly impair 
the Company's ability to access credit facilities or secure future financial arrangements essential for the Company's 
operations. 

The global credit markets, crucial for funding the Company's fleet operations and capital-intensive projects, have 
historically experienced periods of distress. Such conditions have disproportionately affected the shipping industry 
due to its reliance on substantial financial investment and its sensitivity to global economic shifts. 

Continued global concerns, including inflation, rising interest rates, escalating energy costs, and geopolitical issues, 
directly impact the Company's operational costs and financial stability. The volatile oil prices and fluctuating market 
conditions contribute to increased uncertainty, potentially precipitating economic downturns that could reduce 
demand for shipping services. 

Additionally, certain investors and lenders may exclude fossil fuel-related companies, such as the Company, from 
their investing portfolios altogether due to environmental, social and governance factors. These limitations in both 
the debt and equity capital markets may affect the Company's ability to grow as its plans for growth may include 
accessing the equity and debt capital markets. If those markets are unavailable, or if the Company is unable to 
access alternative means of financing on acceptable terms, or at all, the Company may be unable to implement its 
business strategy, which would have a material adverse effect on the Company's financial condition and results of 
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operations and impair its ability to service indebtedness. Further, it is likely that the Company will incur additional 
costs and require additional resources to monitor, report and comply with wide ranging ESG requirements. The 
occurrence of any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business and financial 
condition. 

The Company has significant indebtedness outstanding under its NOK 600 million Senior Unsecured Bonds due 
2025 (called to be redeemed on 11 September 2024, with repayment date on 25 September 2024), 7.25% USD 
150 million Senior Unsecured Sustainability-Linked Bonds due 2026, 8.875% USD 150 million Senior Unsecured 
Bonds due 2027, 8.25% USD 150 million Senior Unsecured Bonds due 2028 and 3 month Norwegian Interbank 
Offered Rate (NIBOR) + 3.25% NOK 750 million Senior Unsecured Bond due 2029. The Company has also entered 
into bank loan facilities and leases that it has used to refinance existing indebtedness and to acquire additional 
vessels. The Company may need to refinance some or all of its indebtedness on maturity of its bonds and/or bank 
loan facilities and/or leases, to acquire additional vessels in the future or for general corporate purposes. The 
Company cannot assure that it will be able to do so on terms acceptable to itself or at all, and as a result of concerns 
about the stability of financial markets generally and the solvency of counterparties specifically, the availability and 
cost of obtaining money from the credit markets has become more difficult as many lenders have increased interest 
rates, enacted tighter lending standards, refused to refinance existing debt at all or on terms similar to current debt 
and reduced, and in some cases ceased, to provide funding to borrowers. Due to these factors, the Company 
cannot be certain that financing will be available if or when needed and to the extent required on acceptable terms. 
If financing is not available when needed, or is available only on unfavorable terms, the Company we may be unable 
to meet its obligations as they come due or may be unable to enhance its existing business, complete additional 
vessel acquisitions, otherwise take advantage of business opportunities as they arise, or the Company will have to 
dedicate some or all of its cash flows, and it may be required to sell some of its assets, to pay the principal and 
interest on its indebtedness. 

The Company’s debt service obligations require the Company to dedicate a substantial portion of its cash flows 
from operations to required payments on indebtedness and could limit its ability to obtain additional financing, make 
capital expenditures and acquisitions, and carry out other general corporate activities in the future. These 
obligations may also limit the Company’s flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in its business and the 
shipping and offshore industry or detract from its ability to successfully withstand a downturn in its business or the 
economy generally. This may place the Company at a competitive disadvantage to other less leveraged 
competitors. 

As of June 30, 2024, the Company had a total outstanding indebtedness of approximately $2.3 billion under its 
various credit facilities, bond loans and lease debt, and a further approximately $0.6 billion of finance lease 
obligations, including the proportionate lease liabilities in the equity-accounted associated company River Box 
Holding Inc. 

Risks of terrorism and political and social unrest 

The Company is an international company and primarily conduct operations outside of the United States, and the 
Company's business, results of operations, cash flows, financial condition and ability to pay dividends, if any, in the 
future may be adversely affected by changing economic, political and government conditions in the countries and 
regions where the Company's vessels or rigs are employed or registered. Moreover, the Company operate in a 
sector of the economy that is likely to be adversely impacted by the effects of political conflicts. 

Currently, the world economy continues to face a number of challenges, including the war between Ukraine and 
Russia and between Israel and Hamas, trade tension between the United States and China, political instability in 
the Middle East and the South China Sea region and other international hostilities, such as those between the 
United States and China, North Korea or Iran, , banking crises or failures, such as the notable regional bank failures 
in the United States, and real estate crises, such as the decreasing real estate values in China. These uncertainties 
could adversely affect the Company’s ability to obtain financing on terms acceptable to itself or at all. Furthermore, 
the significant geopolitical tensions directly threaten the Company's operational stability and security, especially the 
safety of the Company's vessels. 

In the past, political instability has also resulted in attacks on vessels, mining of waterways and other efforts to 
disrupt international shipping, particularly in the Arabian Gulf region and most recently in the Black Sea in 
connection with the conflict between Russia and Ukraine and in connection with the recent attacks by the Houthi 
movement in the Red Sea following the recent conflicts between Israel and Hamas. Acts of terrorism and piracy 
have also affected vessels trading in regions such as the South China Sea, the Gulf of Aden off the coast of Somalia 
and off the coast of Nigeria. Any of these occurrences, or the perception that the Company’s vessels are potential 
terrorist targets, could have a material adverse impact on the Company’s business, financial condition, results of 
operations and ability to pay coupons, debt instalments and/or dividends. 
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Risks related to inflation 

In light of the current and foreseeable economic environment, significant global inflationary pressures could increase 
the Company's operating, voyage, general and administrative and financing costs. Further, as a result of disruptions 
in the Red Sea, shipping costs have increased substantially which are likely to be reflected in rising import prices 
and longer shipping times will reduce supplies of intermediate inputs and consumer goods. The Company therefore 
assumes inflation in all of its investment decisions and attempt to mitigate cost inflation. The Company constantly 
monitors our fleet’s cost levels and employ a pool of different suppliers for the same services to get competitive 
pricing on services. However, there are no assurances that the effects of inflation would not have a material adverse 
impact on the Company's business, financial condition, results of operation and cash flows. 

An increase in oil and natural gas prices or other factors could result in increased development activity and 
investment in the Company's areas of operations, which may increase competition for and cost of equipment, labor 
and supplies. Shortages of, or increasing costs for, experienced drilling crews and equipment, labor or supplies 
could restrict the Company's operators’ ability to conduct desired or expected operations. In addition, capital and 
operating costs in the oil and natural gas industry have generally risen during periods of increasing oil and natural 
gas prices as producers seek to increase production in order to capitalize on higher oil and natural gas prices. In 
situations where cost inflation exceeds oil and natural gas price inflation, the Company's profitability and cash flow, 
and its operators’ ability to complete development activities as scheduled and on budget, may be negatively 
impacted. Any delay in the drilling of new wells or significant increase in drilling costs could reduce the Company's 
revenues and profitability. 

1.2 Legal and regulatory risk 

Risks related to changes in legal and regulatory regulations 

SFL’s operations are affected by extensive and changing international, national, state and local laws, regulations, 
treaties, conventions and standards in force in international waters, the jurisdictions in which the Company’s tankers 
and other vessels operate, and the country or countries in which such vessels are registered, including those 
governing the management and disposal of hazardous substances and wastes, the cleanup of oil spills and other 
contamination, air emissions, and water discharges and ballast and bilge water management. 

In addition, vessel classification societies and the requirements set forth in the IMO's International Management 
Code for the Safe Operation of Ships and for Pollution Prevention, or the ISM Code, also impose significant safety 
and other requirements on the Company’s vessels. The Company's offshore drilling rigs are subject to many of the 
same laws and regulations relating to vessels, but are also subject to laws and regulations focused on offshore 
drilling operations. In complying with current and future environmental requirements, vessel owners and operators 
may also incur significant additional costs in meeting new maintenance and inspection requirements, in developing 
contingency arrangements for potential spills and in obtaining insurance coverage. Government regulation of 
vessels, particularly in the areas of safety and environmental requirements, can be expected to become stricter in 
the future and require the Company to incur significant capital expenditures on its vessels to keep them in 
compliance, or even to scrap or sell certain vessels altogether. 

Risks related to environmental regulations 

Under local, national and foreign laws, as well as international treaties and conventions, the Company could incur 
material liabilities, including cleanup obligations, natural resource damages and third-party claims for personal injury 
or property damages, in the event that there is a release of petroleum or other hazardous substances from the 
Company’s vessels or otherwise in connection with the Company’s current operations. The Company could also 
incur substantial penalties, fines and other civil or criminal sanctions, including in certain instances seizure or 
detention of its vessels, as a result of violations of or liabilities under environmental laws, regulations and other 
requirements. Environmental laws often impose strict liability for remediation of spills and releases of oil and 
hazardous substances, which could subject the Company to liability without regard to whether the Company was 
negligent or at fault. 

Coastal states in the United States have enacted pollution prevention liability and response laws, many providing 
for unlimited liability. Furthermore, the 2010 explosion of the drilling rig Deepwater Horizon, which is unrelated to 
SFL, and the subsequent release of oil into the Gulf of Mexico, or other events, may result in further regulation of 
the shipping and offshore industries and modifications to statutory liability schemes, which could have a material 
adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. An oil spill 
could also result in significant liability, including fines, penalties, criminal liability and remediation costs for natural 
resource damages under other international and U.S. federal, state and local laws, as well as third party damages, 
and could harm the Company’s reputation with current or potential charterers of its vessels. The Company is 
required to satisfy insurance and financial responsibility requirements for potential oil (including marine fuel) spills 
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and other pollution incidents. Although the Company has arranged insurance to cover certain environmental risks, 
there can be no assurance that such insurance will be sufficient to cover all such risks or that any claims will not 
have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition 
and available cash. 

Litigation risks 

The Company may, from time to time, be involved in various litigation matters. The Company cannot predict with 
certainty the outcome or effect of any claim or other litigation matter, and the ultimate outcome of any litigation or 
the potential costs to resolve them may have a material adverse effect on the Company. Insurance may not be 
applicable or sufficient in all cases and/or insurers may not remain solvent which may have a material adverse 
effect on the Company’s financial condition. 

The Bonds may not comply with future sustainability-linked bond standards 

The Bonds may not comply with future sustainability-linked bond standards. The sustainability alignment of the 
Bonds has been measured against the ICMA Sustainability-Linked Bond Principles of June 2023. The ICMA 
Sustainability-Linked Bond Principles and other relevant market standards may be updated during the term of the 
Bonds. Should the Bonds not qualify as aligned with such updated standards, this may have an impact on the 
pricing of the Bonds. 

1.3 Operational risk 

Counterparty risk 

From time to time, the Company enters into, among other things, charter parties with its customers, newbuilding 
contracts with shipyards, credit facilities with banks, guarantees, interest rate swap agreements, currency swap 
agreements, total return bond swaps, and total return equity swaps. Such agreements subject the Company to 
counterparty risks. The performance of the Companies' counterparties is heavily influenced by the volatile nature 
of the maritime and offshore industries, where fluctuating charter rates, day rates for vessels and drilling units, and 
the overall financial health of the sector play a crucial role. Additionally, the financial stability of the Companies' 
counterparties, including charterers, banks, and shipyards, is critical. A deterioration in their financial condition, 
influenced by broader economic downturns or sector-specific challenges, could impede their ability to fulfil 
contractual obligations. In addition, in depressed market conditions, the Company’s charterers and customers may 
no longer need a vessel or drilling unit that is currently under charter or contract, or may be able to obtain a 
comparable vessel or drilling unit at a lower rate. As a result, charterers and customers may seek to renegotiate the 
terms of their existing charter parties and drilling contracts, or avoid their obligations under those contracts. Should 
a counterparty fail to honor its obligations under agreements with the Company, SFL could sustain significant losses 
which could have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. 

The charters, management agreements, charter ancillary agreements and the other contractual agreements the 
Company has with companies affiliated with Hemen were made in the context of an affiliated relationship. Although 
every effort was made to ensure that such agreements were made on an arm's-length basis, the negotiation of 
these agreements may have resulted in prices and other terms that are less favorable to the Company than terms 
it might have obtained in arm's-length negotiations with unaffiliated third parties for similar services. 

In general, the holders of the Company’s common shares and other securities have no step in right nor direct right 
to enforce the obligations of the counterparties of the company, or any of the Company’s other customers under 
the charters, or any of the other agreements to which the Company is a party. Accordingly, if any of those 
counterparties were to breach their obligations to SFL under any of these agreements, the Company’s shareholders 
and bondholders would have to rely on SFL to pursue its remedies against those counterparties. 

Credit risk exist to the extent that the Company’s counterparties are unable to perform or unwilling to honor under 
the contracts could have an adverse effect on the Company's cash flows, financial condition and results of 
operations. 

Operational risks that may not be covered by insurance 

The Company’s vessels and their cargoes are at risk of being damaged or lost, due to events such as marine 
disasters, bad weather, mechanical failures, human error, environmental accidents, diseases, war, terrorism, piracy, 
political circumstances and hostilities in foreign countries, labor strikes and boycotts, changes in tax rates or 
policies, and governmental expropriation of the Company’s vessels. Any of these events may result in loss of 
revenues, increased costs and decreased cash flows to the Company’s customers, which could impair their ability 
to make payments to the Company under its charters. In the event of a casualty to a vessel or other catastrophic 
event, the Company will rely on its insurance to pay the insured value of the vessel or the damages incurred. 
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Through the agreements with the Company’s vessel managers, SFL procures insurance for most of the vessels in 
its fleet employed under time charters against those risks that the Company believe the shipping industry commonly 
insures against. These insurances include marine hull and machinery insurance, protection and indemnity 
insurance, which include pollution risks and crew insurances, and war risk insurance. 

Currently, the amount of coverage for liability for pollution, spillage and leakage available to the Company on 
commercially reasonable terms through protection and indemnity associations and providers of excess coverage is 
USD 1 billion per vessel per occurrence, except for certain excluded areas at high risk, including Russia, Ukraine 
and Belarus (the "High Risk Areas"). 

The Company cannot assure you that it will be adequately insured against all risks. The Company's vessel 
managers may not be able to obtain adequate insurance coverage at reasonable rates for its vessels in the future. 
For example, in the past more stringent environmental regulations have led to increased costs for, and in the future 
may result in the lack of availability of, insurance against risks of environmental damage or pollution. Additionally, 
the Company’s insurers may refuse to pay particular claims. For example, the circumstances of a spill, including 
non-compliance with environmental laws, could result in denial of coverage, protracted litigation, and delayed or 
diminished insurance recoveries or settlements. Any significant loss or liability for which the Company is not insured 
could have a material adverse effect on its financial condition. Under the terms of the Company’s bareboat charters, 
the charterer is responsible for procuring all insurances for the vessel. 

Risks associated to older and second-hand vessels 

In general, the costs to maintain a vessel in good operating condition increase as the vessel ages. Due to 
improvements in engine technology, older vessels are typically less fuel-efficient than more recently constructed 
vessels. Cargo insurance rates increase with the age of a vessel, making older vessels less desirable to charterers. 

Governmental regulations, safety, environmental or other equipment standards related to the age of tankers and 
other types of vessels may require expenditures for alterations or the addition of new equipment to the Company’s 
vessels to comply with safety or environmental laws or regulations that may be enacted in the future. These laws 
or regulations may also restrict the type of activities in which the Company’s vessels may engage or prohibit their 
operation in certain geographic regions. The Company cannot predict what alterations or modifications its vessels 
may be required to undergo as a result of requirements that may be promulgated in the future, or that as the 
Company’s vessels age market conditions will justify any required expenditures or enable the Company to operate 
its vessels profitably during the remainder of their useful lives. 

SFL’s current business strategy includes additional growth through the acquisition of both newbuildings and second-
hand vessels. Although the Company generally inspects second-hand vessels prior to purchase, this does not 
normally provide the Company with the same knowledge about the vessels' condition that it would have had if such 
vessels had been built for and operated exclusively by itself. Therefore, the Company’s future operating results 
could be negatively affected if the vessels do not perform as the Company expects. Also, the Company does not 
receive the benefit of warranties from the builders if the vessels the Company buys are older than one year. 

1.4 Financial risk 

The Company is exposed to Interest rate risk 

The Company is exposed to fluctuations in interest rates with its diversified debt portfolio which varies from shorter 
floating interest to longer fixed interest. The Company uses interest rate swaps to manage its interest rate exposure 
and has interest rate adjustment clauses in some of its chartering agreements. For a portion of the Company’s 
floating rate debt, if interest rates rise, interest payments on the Company’s floating rate debt that it has not swapped 
into effectively fixed rates would increase. 

An increase in interest rates as currently seen could cause the Company to incur additional costs associated with 
its debt service, which may materially and adversely affect the results of its operations. The interest rate swaps that 
have been entered into by the Company and its subsidiaries are derivative financial instruments that effectively 
translate floating rate debt into fixed rate debt. US GAAP requires that these derivatives be valued at current market 
prices in the Company’s financial statements, with increases or decreases in valuations reflected in the income 
statement or, if the instrument is designated as a hedge, in other comprehensive income. Changes in interest rates 
give rise to changes in the valuations of interest rate swaps and could adversely affect the results of its operations 
and other comprehensive income. 

Foreign Currency risk 

The majority of the Company's transactions, assets and liabilities are denominated in U.S. dollars, the functional 
currency of the Company. Though, the Company has entered into currency swap transactions, involving the 
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payment of U.S. dollars in exchange for Norwegian kroner, which are designated as hedges against the NOK 600 
million senior unsecured bonds due 2025. However, NOK is sensitive to e.g. fluctuations in the U.S dollars oil price, 
as there is a risk that currency fluctuations could have an adverse effect on the Company's cash flows, financial 
condition and results of operations. The Company has not entered into forward contracts for either transaction or 
translation risk. Accordingly, there is a risk that currency fluctuations could have an adverse effect on the Company's 
cash flows, financial condition and results of operations. 

Restrictions in the Company's financial indebtedness 

The Company’s credit facilities contain conditions which limits the Company's business and future financing 
activities. For example, the Company’s may not make distributions to its shareholders if it does not satisfy certain 
financial covenants or receive waivers from its lenders. The Company cannot assure that it will be able to satisfy 
these covenants in the future. As a consequence, due to these restrictions, the Company may need to seek 
permission from its lenders in order to engage in some corporate actions. The Company’s lenders' interests may 
be different from the Company’s and SFL cannot guarantee that it will be able to obtain its lenders' permission when 
needed. This may prevent the Company from taking actions that are in its best interests. 

Market value of vessels and drilling units 

The charter-free market value of the Company’s vessels and drilling units may increase or decrease depending on 
the level of supply and demand for vessels and drilling units. Furthermore, the charter-free market value may be 
affected by a number of other factors, including, but not limited to, the prevailing level of charter rates and dayrates, 
general economic and market conditions affecting the international shipping and offshore drilling industries, types, 
sizes and ages of vessels and drilling units, availability of or developments in other modes of transportation, 
competition from other companies, cost of newbuildings, governmental or other regulations and technological 
advances. 

During the period a vessel or drilling unit is subject to a charter, the Company will not be permitted to sell it to take 
advantage of increases in vessel or drilling unit values without the charterers' agreement. Conversely, if the 
charterers were to default under the charters due to adverse market conditions, causing a termination of the 
charters, it is likely that the charter-free market value of the Company’s vessels or drilling units would also be 
depressed. The charter-free market values of the Company's vessels and drilling units have experienced high 
volatility in recent years. 

In addition, as vessels and drilling units grow older, they generally decline in value. If the charter-free market values 
of the Company’s vessels and drilling units decline, the Company may not be in compliance with certain provisions 
of its credit facilities and it may not be able to refinance its debt, obtain additional financing or make distributions to 
its shareholders. Additionally, if the Company sell one or more of its vessels or drilling units at a time when vessel 
and drilling unit prices have fallen and before it have recorded an impairment adjustment to its consolidated financial 
statements, the sale price may be less than the vessel's or drilling unit's carrying value on the balance sheet of the 
Company’s consolidated financial statements, resulting in a loss and a reduction in earnings. Furthermore, if vessel 
and drilling unit values fall significantly, the Company may have to record an impairment adjustment in its financial 
statements, which could adversely affect the financial results and condition. 

1.5 Risk related to the Bonds 

Volatility in price, illiquidity in the market and callable bonds 

The Bonds will be new securities for which there is currently no trading market. The liquidity of any market for the 
Bonds will depend on the number of holders of those Bonds, investor interest at large and relative to the Company 
and its business segment in particular, and the interest of securities dealers in making a market in those securities 
and other factors. Accordingly, there can be no assurance as to (i) the liquidity of any such market that may develop, 
(ii) Bondholders’ ability to sell the Bonds, or (iii) the price at which Bondholders would be able to sell the Bonds. If 
an active market does not develop or is not maintained, the price and liquidity of the Bonds may be adversely 
affected. In addition, transfer restrictions may apply to the Bonds and there may be limitations as to where the 
Bonds may be marketed, offered and registered. Further, the Bonds are callable subject to certain provisions, 
including that a certain premium is paid, which could affect the market value of the Bonds. 

Significant cash requirement to meet debt obligations and sustain operations 

The ability of the Company to make principal or interest payments when due in respect of its financial indebtedness, 
including (without limitation) the Company's financial indebtedness in respect of the Bonds and Company's financial 
indebtedness under other credit arrangements, will depend on the Company's future performance and its ability to 
generate cash. The Company will need significant amounts of cash to fund its business and operations. The Bonds 
mature in 2028 and if the Company does not have sufficient cash flows from operations and other capital resources 
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to pay its financial indebtedness and to fund its other liquidity needs, it may be required to incur new financial 
indebtedness in order to be able to repay the Bonds. If the Company is unable to refinance all or a portion of its 
indebtedness or obtain such refinancing on terms acceptable to the Company, the Company may be forced to 
reduce or delay its business activities or capital expenditures or sell assets or raise additional debt or equity 
financing in amounts that could be substantial. No assurance can be given that the Company will be able to 
accomplish any of these measures in a timely manner or on commercially reasonable terms, if at all. In addition, 
the terms of any other or future debt may limit the Company's ability to pursue any of these measures. 

The Company may have insufficient funds to make required redemptions or repurchases of the Bonds 

The Bond Agreement provide for certain redemption and repurchase mechanics in respect of the Bonds which 
entail redemption or repurchase with a premium, either voluntarily or mandatorily. The latter will be the case, inter 
alia, upon the occurrence of a put-option event (as described in the Bond Terms), whereby each individual 
Bondholder has a right to require that the Company purchases all or some of the Bonds at 101% of nominal value. 
There can be no assurance that the Company will have sufficient funds at the time of such event to make the 
required redemption and/or repurchase of the Bonds, should a mandatory redemption or repurchase occur. Further, 
an investor may not be able to reinvest the prepayment proceeds at an equivalent rate of interest. 

Restrictive covenants may lead to inability to finance operations, capital needs and to pursue business 
opportunities 

The Bond Terms restricts the Group's ability to, inter alia, make certain payments and merge, de-merge and dispose 
of assets. Even though these limitations are subject to carve-outs and limitations, some of the covenants could limit 
the Company's ability to finance future operations and capital needs and its ability to pursue activities that may be 
in the Company's interest. Further, the Company may be subject to affirmative, negative and other covenants 
contained in other agreements for financial indebtedness. A breach of any of such covenants, ratios, tests or 
restrictions could result in an event of default under the Bond Terms. This could have a material adverse effect on 
the Company and its ability to carry on its business and operations and, in turn, the Company's ability to pay all or 
part of the interest or principal on the Bonds. 

Level of subordination of the Bonds 

The Bonds constitute senior debt obligations of the Company, and rank ahead of subordinated debt of the Company. 
However, the Bonds do not rank ahead of any obligations for the Company related to any potential claims which 
are preferred by bankruptcy, insolvency, liquidation or other similar laws of general application. 

Risks related to action against the Company and Bondholders’ representation. 

In accordance with the Bonds Terms, the trustee for the Bonds will represent all Bondholders in all matters relating 
to the Bonds and the Bondholders are prevented from taking actions on their own against the Company. 
Consequently, individual Bondholders do not have the right to take legal actions to declare any default by claiming 
any payment from the Company and may therefore lack effective remedies unless and until a requisite majority of 
the Bondholders agree to take such action. However, there is a risk that an individual Bondholder, in certain 
situations, could bring its own action against the Company (in breach of the Bond Terms), which could negatively 
impact an acceleration of the Bonds or other action against the Company. 

Under the Bond Terms, the trustee for the Bonds will in some cases have the right to make decisions and take 
measures that bind all Bondholders. Consequently, there is a risk that the actions of the trustee in such matters will 
impact a Bondholder’s rights under the Bonds in a manner that is undesirable for some of the Bondholders. 

There is a risk that materialization of any of the above risks will have a material adverse effect on the enforcement 
of the rights of the Bondholders and the rights of the Bondholders to receive payments under the Bonds. 
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2 Definitions 
 
Annual Report 2023 The annual consolidated financial statements of SFL Corporation Ltd. for 

the year ended December 31, 2023 
 
Annual Report 2022 The annual consolidated financial statements of SFL Corporation Ltd. for 

the year ended December 31, 2022 
 
Base Prospectus  This document dated 24 September 2024. 
 
Co-managers Fearnley Securities, Pareto Securities and SMBC Nikko Capital Markets 

Limited 
 
Company/Issuer/SFL SFL Corporation Ltd., a corporation organised under the laws of Bermuda. 
 
Final Terms Document to be prepared for each new issue of bonds under the 

Prospectus. The template for Final Terms is included in the Base 
Prospectus as Annex 2. 

 
Group SFL Corporation Ltd. and its subsidiaries from time to time 
 
Interim Report Q2 2024 The unaudited consolidated financial statements of SFL Corporation Ltd. for 

the three months' period ended June 30, 2024 
 
Joint Bookrunners Arctic Securities AS and DNB Bank ASA 
 
Lead Manager Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ) 
 
US GAAP U.S. generally accepted accounting principles 
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3 Persons responsible 

3.1 Persons responsible for the information 

Persons responsible for the information given in the Base Prospectus are as follows: 

SFL Corporation Ltd. 
Par-la-Ville Place, 
14 Par-la-Ville Road 
P.O. Box HM 1593 
Hamilton, HM08 
Bermuda 

3.2 Declaration by persons responsible 

SFL Corporation Ltd. declares that, to the best of its knowledge, the information contained in the Base Prospectus 
is in accordance with the facts and that the Base Prospectus makes no omission likely to affect its import. 

 

Hamilton (Bermuda), 24 September 2024 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Ole B. Hjertaker, 
Principal Chief Executive Officer 

 
SFL Corporation Ltd. 

 

3.3 Approval by the competent authority 

The Base Prospectus has been approved by the Norwegian FSA, as competent authority under Regulation (EU) 
2017/1129. The Norwegian FSA only approves this Base Prospectus as meeting the standards of completeness, 
comprehensibility and consistency imposed by Regulation (EU) 2017/1129. Such approval should not be 
considered as an endorsement of the Issuer that is the subject of this Base Prospectus. Investors should make their 
own assessment as to the suitability of investing in the securities. 

The template for Final Terms has been approved by the Norwegian FSA, as competent authority under Regulation 
(EU) 2017/1129. The Norwegian FSA only approves this template for Final Terms as meeting the standards of 
completeness, comprehensibility and consistency imposed by Regulation (EU) 2017/1129. Such approval should 
not be considered as an endorsement of the quality of the securities that are the subject of this template for Final 
Terms. Investors should make their own assessment as to the suitability of investing in the securities. 
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4 Statutory Auditors 
The statutory auditor for the Issuer is Ernst & Young AS ("EY"). EY has been the Company's auditor since 2023. 
The Annual Report 2023 were audited by EY, while the Annual Report 2022 were audited by Moore Stephens P.C. 
(“MSPC”), certified public accountants and advisors. 

The partners of EY are members of Den Norske Revisorforeningen (the Norwegian Institute of Public Accountants). 
EY has its registered address at Stortorvet 7, 0155 Oslo, Norway. 

MSPC is member of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. MSPC has its registered address at 546 
Fifth Avenue 6th Floor, 10036-5000, New York, New York, USA. 
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5 Information about the Issuer 

5.1 History and development of the Company 

5.1.1 Name and contact details 
The legal name of the Issuer is SFL Corporation Ltd., the commercial name is SFL Corporation. 
 
The address, telephone number and website of the Issuer’s principal place of business is as follow: 
SFL Corporation Ltd., 
Par-la-Ville Place, 
14 Par-la-Ville Road 
Hamilton HM 08 Bermuda 
Telephone: +1 441 295 9500 
 
Website www.sflcorp.com 
 
The information on the website mentioned above does not form part of the Base Prospectus unless that information 
is incorporated by reference into the Base Prospectus. 

5.1.2 Place of registration, registration number and LEI code 
The Company is registered with the Registrar of Companies in Bermuda with registration number EC-34296. The 
Company’s LEI code is 549300RLYYPSB0C7RH77. 

5.1.3 Incorporation, domicile and legal form  
The Company is a corporation organised under the laws of Bermuda. SFL Corporation Ltd. was incorporated on 
10 October 2003. 
 
The Company operates under the provisions of the Bermuda Companies Law of 1981.  

5.1.4 Objects and purposes 
SFL’s primary business strategy is to continue the profitable growth of our business, deliver quarterly dividend 
payments and increase long term distributable cash flow per share. 
 
The Company's bye-laws can be found at the Company's website www.sflcorp.com.  

5.1.5 Expected financing of activities 
SFL is a specialty financing provider, as an integral part of its business, the Company enters into and repays or 
buys back financing structures on an ongoing basis, including without limitation secured and unsecured bank loans, 
shares of common stock, Scandinavian high yield bonds, US registered notes, including convertible such, and other 
privately negotiated borrowed funds, including in foreign currency, however none of which are, to the best of belief 
of the management, material to the evaluation of the Company’s solvency. 

http://www.sflcorp.com/
http://www.sflcorp.com/
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6 Business Overview 
SFL is an international asset-owning and chartering company with a large and diverse asset base across the 
maritime and offshore industries. 

6.1 Main categories of services performed and principal markets 
Fleet 
SFL owns a substantially modern fleet of maritime assets. As of the date of this Base Prospectus, SFL's assets 
consist of 18 crude oil, product and chemical tankers (of which two new LR2 product and one chemical tanker are 
under construction are expected to be delivered in the third and fourth quarter of 2024), 15 dry bulk carriers, 39 
container vessels (including seven leased-in vessels and five vessels under construction), seven car carriers, one 
jack-up drilling rig and one ultra-deepwater semi-submersible drilling rig included in our wholly owned and partly 
owned subsidiaries and associated companies.  
 
The table in Annex 4 of this Base Prospectus sets forth the fleet that we own or charter-in including those in our 
associated companies as of the date of this Base Prospectus.  
 
The table in Annex 5 of this Base Prospectus sets out the contracted charter log as per date of this Base Prospectus.  
 
Competition 
The Company currently operate in several sectors of the maritime, shipping and offshore industry, including oil 
transportation, dry bulk shipments, chemical transportation, oil products transportation, container transportation, car 
transportation and drilling rigs. 
 
The markets for international seaborne oil transportation services, dry bulk transportation services, and container 
and car transportation services are highly fragmented and competitive. Seaborne oil transportation services are 
generally provided by two main types of operators: major oil companies or captive fleets (both private and state-
owned) and independent shipowner fleets. 
 
In addition, several owners and operators pool their vessels together on an ongoing basis, and such pools are 
available to customers to the same extent as independently owned and operated fleets. Many major oil companies 
and other commodity carriers also operate their own vessels and use such vessels not only to transport their own 
cargoes but also to transport cargoes for third parties, in direct competition with independent owners and operators. 
 
Container vessels and car carriers are generally operated by logistics companies, where the vessels are used as 
an integral part of their services. Therefore, container vessels and car carriers are typically chartered more on a 
period basis and single voyage chartering is less common. As the market has grown significantly over recent 
decades, SFL expect in the future to see more vessels chartered by logistics companies on a shorter term basis, 
particularly smaller vessels. 
 
Our jack-up drilling rig is sub-chartered out on a long term charter to an oil major, while the ultra-deepwater semi-
submersible drilling rig is chartered out on a short term charter to an oil major. Jack-up drilling rigs and ultra-
deepwater semi-submersible drilling rigs are normally chartered by oil companies on a shorter-term basis linked to 
area-specific well drilling or oil exploration activities, but there have also been longer period charters available when 
oil companies want to cover their longer term requirements for such rigs. Ultra-deepwater semi-submersible drilling 
rigs are self-propelled, and can therefore easily move between geographic areas. Jack-up drilling rigs are not self-
propelled, but it is common to move these assets over long distances on heavy-lift vessels. Therefore, the markets 
and competition for these rigs are effectively world-wide. 
 
Competition for charters in all the above sectors is intense and is based upon price, location, size, age, condition 
and acceptability of the vessel/rig and its technical and commercial managers. Competition is also affected by the 
availability of other sized vessels/rigs to compete in the trades in which we engage. Most of our existing vessels 
are chartered at fixed rates on a long term basis and are thus not directly affected by competition in the short term. 
However, tankers chartered to Frontline Shipping and dry bulk carriers chartered to the Golden Ocean Charterer 
are subject to profit sharing agreements, which will be affected by competition experienced by the charterers. 
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7 Organizational structure 

7.1 Description of Issuer 
SFL Corporation Ltd. is a Bermuda-based company incorporated in Bermuda on October 10, 2003, as a Bermuda 
exempted company under the Bermuda Companies Law of 1981. We are engaged primarily in the ownership and 
operation of vessels and offshore related assets, and also involved in the charter, purchase and sale of assets. 
 
Our primary objective is to continue to grow our business through accretive acquisitions across a diverse range of 
marine and offshore asset classes. In doing so, our strategy is to generate stable and increasing cash flows by 
chartering our assets primarily under medium to long term bareboat or time charters. 
 
SFL operates through subsidiaries located in Bermuda, Cyprus, Canada, Namibia, Liberia, Norway, Singapore, the 
United Kingdom and the Marshall Islands. The table in Annex 3 of this Base Prospectus sets out the subsidiaries 
as per the date of this Base Prospectus.  
 
The group structure is shown below. 

 

7.2 Dependence upon other entities 
Our subsidiaries own all of our vessels and drilling units, and payments under our charter agreements are made to 
our subsidiaries. As a result, our ability to satisfy our financial and other obligations depends on the performance of 
our subsidiaries and their ability to distribute funds to us. 
 
Therefore, the Company is dependent on the results of the operations of its subsidiaries. 
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8 Trend information  

8.1 Prospects and financial performance 
There has been no material adverse change in the prospects of the Issuer since the date of its last published audited 
financial statements.  
 
There has been no significant change in the financial performance of the Group since the end of the last financial 
period for which financial information has been published to the date of the Base Prospectus. 

8.2 Known trends, uncertainties, demands, commitments or events 
Liners 
SFL has a container fleet of 39 vessels, including five vessels on order. The container fleet generated approximately 
$89.8 million of charter hire in the second quarter 2024, including profit share from fuel savings.  

The Company has recently agreed new five year charters for three 10,600 teu vessels and four 8,700 teu vessels 
with Maersk, adding approximately $485 million in backlog. 

Subsequent to the end of the second quarter of 2024, the Company has agreed to build five 16,800 teu container 
vessels with scheduled delivery in 2028 at an aggregate construction cost of approximately $1 billion. The vessels 
will have LNG dual-fuel propulsion and the latest features in fuel efficiency and cargo intake optimization.  

Upon delivery the vessels will commence minimum ten year time charters to a leading liner company, adding 
approximately $1.2 billion to our charter backlog. There will be an option to extend the charters for another two 
years, and purchase options at the end of year 10 and 12, including a profit share feature. 

Car carrier 
SFL has a car carrier fleet of seven vessels. The car carrier fleet generated approximately $26.3 million of charter 
hire in the quarter, including profit share from fuel savings. 

Following the delivery of our newbuild LNG dual-fuel car carriers Odin Highway and Thor Highway during the first 
quarter, the Company now has full cash flow effect from all of our seven car carriers. 

Tankers 
SFL has a fleet of 18 crude oil, product, and chemical tankers, of which two were under construction at quarter end 
and two were agreed to be acquired. The vessels generated approximately $30 million in charter hire during the 
second quarter 2024.  

During the second quarter the Company took delivery of the newbuild LR2 product tanker SFL Tucana with a five 
year time charter to a world leading energy and commodities company. The Company expects to take delivery of 
the two remaining newbuilds later in August and October 2024, respectively.  

Subsequent to the end of the second quarter of 2024, the Company took delivery of the LNG dual-fuel 33,000 dwt 
chemical carrier SFL Aruba, with another vessel expected to be delivered later in August 2024. Upon delivery the 
vessels will be employed to affiliates of Stolt Tankers. One vessel will be on a fixed rate time charter and one vessel 
will be employed in a pool with similar sized vessels serving a portfolio of industrial freight volume contracts. 

 
Dry Bulk  
The Company has 15 dry bulk carriers of which eight were employed on long term charters in the second quarter 
2024. SFL generated approximately $23.4 million in gross charter hire from the dry bulk vessels, including profit 
share generated from the eight capesize vessels on charter to Golden Ocean.  

Seven dry bulk vessels, comprising of five supramax and two kamsarmax bulkers, were employed in the spot and 
short term charter market in the second quarter 2024 and earned approximately $8.2 million in net charter hire. 

 
Energy 
SFL owns two harsh environment drilling rigs, the large jack-up rig Linus and the ultra-deepwater semi-submersible 
rig Hercules. During the second quarter 2024, the rigs generated approximately $29.3 million in contract revenues, 
compared to approximately $66.5 million in the first quarter. 

Linus is under a long term contract with ConocoPhillips in Norway until 2028. During the quarter, revenues from the 
rig were $10.0 million compared to $19.6 million in the previous quarter, as the rig underwent its ten-year special 
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survey. Due to an additional repair scope during the survey, the final net cost is estimated to be approximately $40 
million and will be capitalized and amortized over the next 5 years. The rig was back on contract in late July 2024, 
approximately five weeks later than originally scheduled. 

In the second quarter, Hercules finalized the contract with Galp Energia in Namibia and then spent approximately 
half of the quarter in mobilization mode, recording approximately $19.4 million of revenues, compared to $46.9 
million in the first quarter in 2024. The rig commenced the contract with Equinor in Canada in mid July 2024. Under 
US GAAP, mobilization fees and costs are deferred and amortized over the course of the contract. SFL has 
accordingly recorded lower income and cost on Hercules in the second quarter, and most of the mobilization fee 
and cost will be added in the third quarter. 
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9 Administrative, management and supervisory bodies 

9.1 Information about persons 
Board 
The table below set out the names of the members of the Board of the Company:  
 

Name  Position  Business address  

James O'Shaughnessy Director of the Company and Chairperson of the 
Audit Committee 

See clause 5.1.1 

Kathrine Astrup Fredriksen Director of the Company See clause 5.1.1 

Gary Vogel Director of the Company See clause 5.1.1 

Keesjan Cordia Director of the Company See clause 5.1.1 

Will Homan-Russell Director of the Company See clause 5.1.1 

Ole B. Hjertaker Director of the Company See clause 5.1.1 

 
James O'Shaughnessy has been a Director of the Company since September 2018. Mr. O'Shaughnessy served 
as an Executive Vice President, Chief Accounting Officer and Corporate Controller of Axis Capital Holdings Limited 
up to March 26, 2019. Prior to that Mr. O'Shaughnessy has amongst others served as Chief Financial Officer of 
Flagstone Reinsurance Holdings and as Chief Accounting Officer and Senior Vice President of Scottish Re Group 
Ltd., and Chief Financial Officer of XL Re Ltd. at XL Group plc. Mr. O'Shaughnessy received a Bachelor of 
Commerce degree from University College, Cork, Ireland and is both a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of Ireland, an Associate Member of the Chartered Insurance Institute of the UK and a Chartered 
Director. In addition to the Company, Mr. O'Shaughnessy serves as a director and a member of the audit committee 
of Frontline, Golden Ocean, Archer Limited, Avance Gas, CG Insurance Group and Catalina General. Mr. 
O'Shaughnessy also serves as a director for Brit Re. 
 
Kathrine Astrup Fredriksen has been a Director of the Company since February 2020. Ms. Fredriksen has served 
as a board member of Norwegian Property ASA since 2016, Avance Gas since May 2021 and MOWI ASA since 
June 2022. Ms. Fredriksen is currently employed by Seatankers Services (UK) LLP and she has previously been 
on the boards of Seadrill, Golar LNG, Axactor SE, Frontline and Deep Sea Supply. Ms. Fredriksen was educated 
at the European Business School in London. 
 
Gary Vogel has been a Director of the Company since December 2016, and is a member of the Compensation 
Committee and the Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee. From 2015 to 2024 he served as Chief 
Executive Officer and Director of Eagle Bulk Shipping Inc., a U.S listed owner and operator of geared dry bulk 
vessels. From 2000 to 2015, Mr Vogel held various positions in Clipper Group Ltd., last as Chief Executive Officer. 
Mr. Vogel graduated from the U.S. Merchant Marine Academy in 1988 with a Bachelor of Science degree in Marine 
Transportation as well as a U.S. Coast Guard Unlimited Tonnage 3rd Officers License. Subsequently, he served as 
an officer in the U.S. Naval Reserve. Mr. Vogel is currently on the Lloyd’s Register North America Advisory 
Committee. 
 
Keesjan Cordia has been a Director of the Company since September 2018. Mr. Cordia is a private investor with 
a background in Economics and Business Administration. Mr. Cordia holds several board and advisory board 
positions in the oil and gas industry, among which he is a board member of Workships group B.V (2006), Combifloat 
B.V (2013) and Kerrco Inc (2017). He has been Chairman of the board of Oceanteam ASA since April 2018 and 
recently has become a board member of VS Particle B.V. since 2023. From 2006-2014 he was CEO at Seafox 
(Offshore Services). Mr. Cordia is founder and Managing Partner of Invaco Management B.V., an investment firm 
based in Amsterdam. He is also a member of the investor committee of Connected Capital, a private equity firm. 
Mr. Cordia also serves as a director of Northern Drilling Ltd. 
 
Will Homan-Russell has been a Director of the Company since July 2022. Mr. Homan-Russell is an experienced 
professional investor in the maritime sector, currently serving as Chief Investment Officer of UK based WMC Capital 
Ltd., where he cofounded Albemarle Shipping Fund. From 2003 to 2018 he worked for Tufton Oceanic Limited, a 
fund management company specializing on investments in the maritime and energy sectors. Mr. Homan-Russell 
holds an MA in Mathematics from Oxford University and an MSc. in Finance from London Business School. Mr. 
Homan-Russell also serves as a director of Avance Gas. 
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Ole B. Hjertaker has been a Director of the Company since October 2019. Mr. Hjertaker has served as Chief 
Executive Officer of SFL Management AS since July 2009, prior to which he served as Chief Financial Officer from 
September 2006. Prior to joining SFL, Mr. Hjertaker was employed in the Corporate Finance division of DNB 
Markets, a leading shipping and offshore bank. Mr. Hjertaker has extensive corporate and investment banking 
experience, mainly within the maritime/transportation industries, and holds a Master of Science degree from the 
Norwegian School of Economics and Business Administration. Mr. Hjertaker also serves as a chairman of NorAm 
Drilling and director of Frontline. 
 
Management 
The table below set out the names of the members of the Management of the Company: 
 

Name  Position  Business address  

Ole B. Hjertaker Chief Executive Officer See clause 5.1.1 

Aksel C. Olesen Chief Financial Officer See clause 5.1.1 

Trym Otto Sjølie Chief Operating Officer See clause 5.1.1 

Thecla Panagides Chief Accounting Officer See clause 5.1.1 

André Reppen Chief Treasurer & Senior Vice President See clause 5.1.1 

Jannicke Eilertsen Compliance Officer See clause 5.1.1 

Mikkel Storm Weum Senior Vice President, Business Development See clause 5.1.1 

Marius Furuly Senior Vice President, Energy See clause 5.1.1 

 
Ole B. Hjertaker, please see description under Board above. 
 
Aksel C. Olesen serves as Chief Financial Officer. Prior to joining SFL, he spent 12 years at Pareto Securities 
where he worked in various positions in the firm’s investment banking division, including as Head of Investment 
Banking Asia in Singapore from 2011 to 2014 and most recent as Head of Shipping and Offshore Project Finance. 
Mr. Olesen started his career working for Kristian Jebsens Rederi, a fully integrated dry-bulk shipowner, as part of 
the legal, business development and finance team. Mr. Olesen holds a Law Degree from the University of Bergen 
and has attended the Program on Negotiation at Harvard Law School and the Carroll School of Management at 
Boston College. 
 
Trym Otto Sjølie serves as Chief Operating Officer. Mr. Sjølie has a background spanning 25 years in the shipping 
industry in diverse capacities, ranging from asset management, technical and operational management, chartering 
and engineering. Prior to joining SFL, Mr. Sjølie served as the MD of a shipping fund with a fleet of vessels across 
multiple asset classes. He previously worked for Höegh Autoliners, a leading car carrier operator, from 1998 to 
2010. Mr Sjølie also has experience in vessel design and operations of shuttle tankers, FSOs and FPSOs. Mr. 
Sjølie holds a MSc degree in Marine engineering and Naval Architecture from the Norwegian University of Science 
and Technology (NTNU) and a MMa Degree from BI Norwegian Business School. 
 
Thecla Panagides serves as Chief Accounting Officer. Mrs. Panagides holds an Honour's degree in Accounting 
and Finance from the University of Birmingham and is a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in 
England and Wales. Prior to joining SFL Mrs. Panagides served as Chief Accountant in Frontline Corporate 
Services for four years and has held positions at Coca-Cola Hellenic and Ernst & Young. 
 
André Reppen serves as Chief Treasurer and Senior Vice President. Mr. Reppen holds an MBA in Finance in 
addition to the Authorised Financial Analyst title from the Norwegian School of Economics and Business 
Administration. Prior to joining SFL in 2008, Mr. Reppen worked for PwC in the Shipping and Financial Services 
department as a transaction and corporate structuring advisor. Mr. Reppen is also a CEFA charterholder. 
 
Jannicke Eilertsen serves as Compliance Officer. Ms. Eilertsen holds a Master of Laws from the University of Oslo 
and studied maritime laws at the University of Southampton. Ms. Eilertsen worked at Advokatfirmaet Wiersholm as 
a Senior Associate in the Compliance and Investigations department. At Wiersholm, Ms. Eilertsen worked with 
several privately and publicly owned companies on cross-border matters concerning anti-bribery and corruption, 
anti-money laundering and sanctions. Also, Ms. Eilertsen has experience from the FD&D department at Gard (UK) 
Ltd in London and from Rolls-Royce Marine AS as legal counsel. 
 
Mikkel Storm Weum serves as Senior Vice President, Business Development. Mr. Weum holds a Master’s degree 
in Naval Architecture from Newcastle University and a Master of Science in Shipping Trade and Finance from Cass 
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Business School, City University in London. Prior to joining SFL, Mr. Weum worked as Vice President, Head of 
Commercial in Teekay Offshore with focus on Shuttle Tankers and Floating Offshore storage (FSO) activities. Mr. 
Weum has work experience in vessel design, new build project management in addition to business development 
and chartering. 
 
Marius Furuly serves as Senior Vice President, Energy. Mr. Furuly holds a BBA degree with a specialisation in 
finance from BI Norwegian Business School. Prior to joining SFL, Mr. Furuly worked at Carnegie Investment Bank 
as a senior equity research analyst covering the shipping industry. Before that, he worked in Carnegie’s investment 
banking division focusing on shipping, offshore and oil services. Also, Mr. Furuly has previously worked in the 
shipping lending division of Nordea and in the freight division of DFDS. 

9.2 Administrative, management and supervisory bodies conflicts of 
interest 
Certain of our directors, executive officers and major shareholders may have interests that are different from, or are 
in addition to, the interests of our other shareholders. In particular, Hemen and certain related companies whose 
shares are indirectly held by two trusts settled by Mr. John Fredriksen for the benefit of his family, own and 
beneficially own approximately 17.5% of our issued and outstanding common shares as of June 30, 2024. 
Furthermore, in February 2020, Ms. Kathrine Astrup Fredriksen, who is the daughter of Mr. John Fredriksen, 
became a Director of the Company. Hemen is also a principal shareholder of a number of other large publicly traded 
companies involved in various sectors of the shipping and oil services industries, or the Hemen Related Companies. 
 
In addition, certain directors, including Mr. Cordia, Mr. O'Shaughnessy, Mr. Homan-Russell and Mr. Hjertaker, also 
serve on the boards of one or more of the Hemen Related Companies, including but not limited to Frontline, Golden 
Ocean, Northern Drilling, Avance Gas, Archer Limited and ST Energy Transition I. There may be real or apparent 
conflicts of interest with respect to matters affecting Hemen and other Hemen Related Companies whose interests 
in some circumstances may be adverse to our interests. To the extent that we do business with or compete with 
other Hemen Related Companies for business opportunities, prospects or financial resources, or participate in 
ventures in which other Hemen Related Companies may participate, these directors and officers may face actual 
or apparent conflicts of interest in connection with decisions that could have different implications for us. These 
decisions may relate to corporate opportunities, corporate strategies, potential acquisitions of businesses, 
newbuilding acquisitions, inter-company agreements, the issuance or disposition of securities, the election of new 
or additional directors and other matters. Such potential conflicts may delay or limit the opportunities available to 
us, and it is possible that conflicts may be resolved in a manner adverse to us or result in agreements that are less 
favorable to us than terms that would be obtained in arm's-length negotiations with unaffiliated third-parties. 
 
Other than stated above there are no potential conflicts of interest between any duties to the issuing entity of the 
persons referred to in item 9.1 and their private interests and/or other duties. 
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10 Major shareholders 

10.1 Ownership 
As at the date of this Base Prospectus, there were 146,803,619 common shares (par value US$0.01 per share) 
issued. The outstanding share capital of the Company was 145,708,524 common shares. 
 
The following table presents certain information as at the date of this Base Prospectus, regarding the ownership of 
our Common Shares with respect to each shareholder whom we know to beneficially own five percent or more of 
our outstanding Common Shares: 
 

Owner Number of Common Shares Precent of Common Shares 

Hemen Holding Limited 25,728,687 17.5% 

 
In calculating the above percentages of common shares held by Hemen, the total number of issued and outstanding 
common shares of 146,803,619 was used as denominator which includes a total of 12,860,237 shares outstanding 
from share lending arrangements and treasury shares. 
 
Our major shareholders have the same voting rights as our other shareholders. 

10.2 Change of control of the company 
There are no arrangements, known to the Company, the operation of which may at a subsequent date result in a 
change in control of the Company. 
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11 Financial information concerning the Company's assets 
and liabilities, financial position and profits and losses 

11.1 Historical Financial Information for the Company 
The Company’s consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States ("US GAAP"). 
 
A summary of the Company’s significant accounting policies is set forth in Note 2 of the Notes to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements in the Annual Report 2023, pages F-12 to F-20. 
 
According to the Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 of the European Parliament and of the Council, the historical financial 
information and financial statements are incorporated by reference to the Annual Report 2023, the Annual Report 
2022 and the Interim Report Q2 2024. See Cross Reference List for complete web address. 
 rly Report  
 Interim Report Annual Report 

 Q2 2024 2023 2022 

 Page(s) Page(s) Page(s) 

   
SFL Corporation Ltd.  
Consolidated Financial Statements 
 

  

Consolidated Statements of 
Operations 
 

4 F-6 
 

F-4 
 

Consolidated Balance Sheets  
 

6 F-8 
 

F-6 
 

Consolidated Statements of Cash 
Flows 

7 F-9 F-7 

Notes to the consolidated financial 
statements 

9 F-12 – F-58 F-11 – F-62 

 
The Interim Report have not been audited. 

11.2 Auditing of historical annual financial information 
The Company’s annual financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2022 were audited by Moore 
Stephens P.C. (“MSPC”), while the Company's annual financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2023 
were audited by Ernst & Young AS. Please see Section 4.  
 
The audits were conducted in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 
(United States) (“PCAOB”). 
 
A statement of audited historical financial information is given in the Annual Report 2022, pages F-2 to F-4 and the 
Annual Report 2023, pages F-2 to F-3. 

11.3 Legal and arbitration proceedings 
The Company and our ship-owning subsidiaries are routinely party, as plaintiff or defendant, to claims and lawsuits 
in various jurisdictions for demurrage, damages, off-hire and other claims and commercial disputes arising from the 
operation of their vessels, in the ordinary course of business or in connection with acquisition activities. We believe 
that resolution of such claims will not have a material adverse effect on our operations or financial conditions. 
 
There has been no governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings (including any such proceedings which are 
pending or threatened of which the issuer is aware), during a period covering at least the previous 12 months which 
may have, or have had in the recent past, significant effects on the Issuer and/or Group's financial position or 
profitability. 

https://ml-eu.globenewswire.com/Resource/Download/ef5ed51b-9a5e-4c3b-9bc4-920dd4bdd024
https://ml-eu.globenewswire.com/Resource/Download/ef5ed51b-9a5e-4c3b-9bc4-920dd4bdd024
https://ml-eu.globenewswire.com/Resource/Download/74df2cc1-a8e6-4936-a9c5-c6fc1fe39d0c
https://ml-eu.globenewswire.com/Resource/Download/74df2cc1-a8e6-4936-a9c5-c6fc1fe39d0c
https://ml-eu.globenewswire.com/Resource/Download/c26db10c-cefb-427b-b405-ad942b5f567d
https://ml-eu.globenewswire.com/Resource/Download/74df2cc1-a8e6-4936-a9c5-c6fc1fe39d0c
https://ml-eu.globenewswire.com/Resource/Download/ef5ed51b-9a5e-4c3b-9bc4-920dd4bdd024
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11.4 Significant change in the Group’s financial position 
There has not occurred any significant change in the financial position of the Group since the end of the last financial 
period for which interim financial information has been published. 

11.5 Material contracts outside of the ordinary course of business 
There are no contracts entered into outside the ordinary course of business that are considered material for the 
Group's existing business or profitability. Neither are there any other contracts, not being contracts entered into in 
the ordinary course of business, which contain any provisions under which any company within the Group has an 
obligation or entitlement which is material to the Group as at the date of this Base prospectus. 
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12 Documents available 
For the term of the Base Prospectus, the following documents (or copies thereof) can be inspected at the offices or 
on the Issuer’s website www.sflcorp.com: 
 
(a) the up-to-date memorandum and articles of association of the Issuer; and 
 
(b) all reports, letters, and other documents, valuations and statements prepared by any expert at the Issuer’s 

request any part of which is included or referred to in the Base Prospectus. 

http://www.sflcorp.com/
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13 Financial instruments that can be issued under the Base 
Prospectus 
The Base Prospectus, as approved in accordance with the EU Prospectus Regulation 2017/1129, allows for Bonds 
to be offered to the public or admitted to trading on a regulated market situated or operating within any EEA country. 
 
This chapter describes the form, type, definitions, general terms and conditions, return and redemption 
mechanisms, rating and template for Final Terms associated with the Bonds. 
 
Risk factors related to the Bonds are described in Chapter 1 Risk Factors. 

13.1 Securities Form 
A Bond is a financial instrument as defined in the Norwegian Securities Trading Act (Verdipapirhandelloven)  
§ 2-2. 
 
The Bonds are electronically registered in book-entry form with the Norwegian Central Securities Depository, 
Euronext Securities Oslo (VPS). 

13.2 Security Type 
Borrowing limit – tap issue 
The Loan may be either open or closed for increase of the Borrowing Amount during the tenor. A tap issue can take 
place until five banking days before the Maturity Date. If the issue is open, the First Tranche and Borrowing Limit 
will be specified in the Applicable Final Terms. 
 
Return 
Fixed Rate (FIX) 
A Bond issue with a fixed Interest Rate will bear interest at a fixed rate as specified in the applicable Final Terms.  
 
The Interest Rate will be payable quarterly, semi-annually or annually on the Interest Payment Dates as specified 
in the applicable Final Terms. 
 
Floating Rate (FRN) 
A Bond issue with a floating Interest Rate will bear interest equal to a Reference Rate plus a fixed Margin for a 
specified period (3 or 6 months). Interest Rate or Reference Rate may be deemed to be zero. The period lengths 
are equal throughout the term of the Loan, but each Interest Payment Date is adjusted in accordance with the 
Business Day Convention. The Interest Rate for each forthcoming period is determined two Business Days prior to 
each Interest Payment Date based on the then current value of the Reference Rate plus the Margin. 
 
The Interest Rate will be payable quarterly or semi-annually on the Interest Payment Dates as specified in the 
applicable Final Terms. 
 
The relevant Reference Rate, the Margin, the Interest Payment Dates and the then current Interest Rate will be 
specified in the applicable Final Terms. 
 
Redemption 
The Loan will mature in full at the Maturity Date at a price equal to 100 per cent. of the nominal amount, or at the 
Redemption Price as specified in the Final Terms if the Issuer does not, on or before the Target Observation Date, 
deliver written evidence (to the Bond Trustee's satisfaction) that the Sustainability Performance Target (based on 
fleet emissions data confirmed by an External Verifier in accordance with the Issuer’s Sustainability Linked 
Financing Framework) has been met on average for the years in the period starting with the year 2022 (published 
in the Sustainability Report for the period ending 31 December 2022) until and including the year 2026 (published 
in the Sustainability Report for the period ending 31 December 2026). 
 
The Issuer may have the option to prematurely redeem the Loan in full at terms specified in the applicable Final 
Terms. 
 
The Bondholders may have the right to require that the Issuer purchases all or some of the Bonds held by that 
Bondholder at terms specified in the applicable Final terms. 
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Security 
The Bonds may be either secured or unsecured. Details will be specified in the applicable Final Terms. 
 
Negative pledge 
The Bonds may have negative pledge clause. Details will be specified in the applicable Final Terms. 

13.3 Definitions 
This section includes a summary of the definitions set out in any Bond Terms as well as certain other definitions 
relevant for this Prospectus. If these definitions at any point in time no longer represents the correct understanding 
of the definitions set out in the Bond Terms, the Bond Terms shall prevail. 
 

Additional Bonds: Means Bonds issued under a Tap Issue, including any Temporary Bonds as defined in the Bond 
Terms. 

  

Attachment: Means any schedule, appendix or other attachment to the Bond Terms. 

  

Base Prospectus: This document. Describes the Issuer and predefined features of Bonds that can be listed under 
the Base Prospectus, as specified in the Prospectus Regulation (EU) 2017/1129. Valid for 12 
months after it has been published. In this period, a prospectus may be constituted by the Base 
Prospectus, any supplement(s) to the Base Prospectus and a Final Terms for each new issue. 

  

Bond Issue/Bonds/ 
Notes/the Loan: 

Means (i) the debt instruments issued by the Issuer pursuant to the Bond Terms, including any 
Additional Bonds, and (ii) any overdue and unpaid principal which has been issued under a 
separate ISIN in accordance with the regulations of the CSD from time to time. 

  

Bond Terms: The terms and conditions, including all Attachments which form an integrated part of the Bond 
Terms, in each case as amended and/or supplemented from time to time.  

  

Bond Trustee: Nordic Trustee AS, Postboks 1470 Vika, 0116 Oslo, or its successor(s) Website: 
https://nordictrustee.com 
 
The Bond Trustee has power and authority to act on behalf of, and/or represent, the Bondholders 
in all matters, including but not limited to taking any legal or other action, including enforcement 
of the Bond Terms, and the commencement of bankruptcy or other insolvency proceedings 
against the Issuer, or others. 
 
The Bond Trustee shall represent the Bondholders in accordance with the finance documents. 
The Bond Trustee is not obligated to assess or monitor the financial condition of the Issuer or 
any other obligor unless to the extent expressly set out in the Bond Terms, or to take any steps 
to ascertain whether any event of default has occurred. The Bond Trustee is entitled to take such 
steps that it, in its sole discretion, considers necessary or advisable to protect the rights of the 
Bondholders in all matters pursuant to the terms of the finance documents. 

  

Bondholder: A person who is registered in the CSD as directly registered owner or nominee holder of a Bond, 
subject however to the Bondholders’ rights in the Bond Terms. 

  

Bondholders’ 
decisions: 

The Bondholders’ Meeting represents the supreme authority of the Bondholders community in 
all matters relating to the Bonds and has the power to make all decisions altering the terms and 
conditions of the Bonds, including, but not limited to, any reduction of principal or interest and 
any conversion of the Bonds into other capital classes. 
 
At the Bondholders’ meeting each Bondholder may cast one vote for each voting bond owned 
at close of business on the day prior to the date of the Bondholders’ meeting in the records 
registered in the Securities Depository.  
 
In order to form a quorum, at least half (1/2) of the voting bonds must be represented at the 
Bondholders' meeting. See also the clause for repeated Bondholders’ meeting in the Bond 
Terms.  
 

https://nordictrustee.com/
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Resolutions shall be passed by simple majority of the votes at the Bondholders' Meeting, 
however, a majority of at least 2/3 of the voting bonds represented at the Bondholders’ Meeting 
is required for any waiver or amendment of any terms of the Bond Terms. 
 
(For more details, see also the clause for Bondholders’ decisions in the Bond Terms) 

  

Bondholders rights: Bondholders' rights are specified in the Bond Terms.  
 
By virtue of being registered as a Bondholder (directly or indirectly) with the CSD, the 
Bondholders are bound by the Bond Terms. 

  

Borrowing Limit – Tap 
Issue and Borrowing 
Amount/First Tranche 

Borrowing Limit – Tap Issue is the maximum issue amount for an open Bond issue.  
 
Borrowing Amount/First Tranche is the borrowing amount for a closed Bond Issue, eventually 
the borrowing amount for the first tranche of an open Bond Issue. 
 
Borrowing Limit – Tap Issue and Borrowing Amount/First Tranche will be specified in the Final 
Terms. 

  

Business Day: A day on which both the relevant CSD settlement system is open, and the relevant Bond 
currency settlement system is open and banks generally are open for business 
in Oslo and New York. 

  

Business Day 
Convention: 

If the last day of any Interest Period originally falls on a day that is not a Business Day, the 
Interest Payment Date will be as follow: 
 
If Fixed Rate, the Interest Payment Date shall be postponed to the next day which is a Business 
Day (Following Business Day convention). However, no adjustment will be made to the Interest 
Period. 
 
If FRN, the Interest Period will be extended to include the first following Business Day unless 
that day falls in the next calendar month, in which case the Interest Period will be shortened to 
the first preceding Business Day (Modified Following Business Day convention). The Interest 
Period is adjusted accordingly. 

  

Calculation Agent: The Bond Trustee, if not otherwise stated in the applicable Final Terms. 

  

Call Option: The Final Terms may specify that the Issuer is entitled to redeem (all or some of) the Outstanding 
Bonds prior to the Maturity Date. 
 
In such case the Call Date(s), the Call Price(s) and the Call Notice Period will be specified in the 
Final Terms. 

  

Change of Control 
Event: 

Means a person or group of persons, other than Hemen Holding Ltd. and/or other companies 
controlled directly or indirectly by Mr. John Fredriksen, his direct lineal descendants, the personal 
estate of any of them and any trust created for the benefit of any of the aforementioned persons 
and their estates, gaining Decisive Influence over the Issuer. 

  

Co-Manager: The bond issue’s co-manager(s), as specified in the Final Terms. 

  

Currency: The currency in which the bond issue is denominated. 
 
Currency will be specified in the Final Terms. 

  

Day Count Convention: The convention for calculation of payment of interest; 
a) If Fixed Rate, the interest shall be calculated on the basis of a 360-day year comprised of 

twelve months of 30 days each and, in case of an incomplete month, the actual number of 
days elapsed (30/360-days basis), unless: 
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(i) the last day in the relevant Interest Period is the 31st calendar day but the first day of 
that Interest Period is a day other than the 30th or the 31st day of a month, in which 
case the month that includes that last day shall not be shortened to a 30–day month; 
or 

(ii) the last day of the relevant Interest Period is the last calendar day in February, in which 
case February shall not be lengthened to a 30-day month. 

(b) If FRN, the interest shall be calculated on the basis of the actual number of days in the 
Interest Period in respect of which payment is being made divided by 360 (actual/360-days 
basis). 

  

De-Listing Event: Means the occurrence of an event whereby the Issuer's shares ceases to be listed on the New 
York Stock Exchange or another recognised Exchange. 

  

Decisive Influence: A person having, as a result of an agreement or through the ownership of shares or interests in 
another person (directly or indirectly): 
(a) a majority of the voting rights in that other person; or 
(b) a right to elect or remove a majority of the members of the board of directors of that 
 other person. 

  

Denomination – Each 
Bond / Nominal 
Amount: 

The nominal amount of each Bond. 
 
Denomination of each bond will be specified in the Final Terms. 

  

Disbursement Date / 
Issue Date 

Date of bond issue. 
 
On the Issue Date the bonds will be delivered to the Bondholder’s VPS-account against payment 
or to the Bondholder’s custodian bank if the Bondholder does not have his/her own VPS-account. 
 
The Issue Date will be specified in the Final Terms. 

  

Early redemption 
option due to a tax 
event: 

The Final Terms may specify that the Issuer is entitled to redeem (all or some of) the Outstanding 
Bonds prior to the Maturity Date due to a tax event. 
 
In such case the terms of the early redemption option will be specified in the Final Terms. 

  

Exchange: Means: 
(a) Oslo Børs (the Oslo Stock Exchange); or 
(b) any regulated market as such term is understood in accordance with the Markets in Financial 

Instruments Directive 2014/65/EU (MiFID II) and Regulation (EU) No. 600/2014 on markets 
in financial instruments (MiFIR). 

  

External Verifier: Means any qualified provider of third-party assurance or attestation services appointed by the 
Issuer (acceptable to the Bond Trustee) to review and confirm the Issuer’s fleet emissions data 
with respect to the Sustainability Performance Target. 

  

Final Terms: Document describing securities as specified in the Prospectus Regulation (EU) 2017/1129, 
prepared as part of the Prospectus. Final Terms will be prepared for each new security as 
specified in the Prospectus Regulation (EU) 2017/1129, issued by the Issuer. 
 
The template for Final Terms has been approved by the Norwegian FSA, as competent authority 
under Regulation (EU) 2017/1129. The Norwegian FSA only approves the template for Final 
Terms as meeting the standards of completeness, comprehensibility and consistency imposed 
by Regulation (EU) 2017/1129. Such approval should not be considered as an endorsement of 
the quality of the securities that are subject of the Final Terms. Investors should make their own 
assessment as to the suitability of investing in the securities. 

  

Interest Determination 
Date(s): 

In the case of NIBOR: Second Oslo business day prior to the start of each Interest Period. 
 
Interest Determination Date(s) for other Reference Rates, see Final Terms. 
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Interest Payment 
Date(s): 

The Interest Rate is paid in arrears on the last day of each Interest Period.  
 
Any adjustment will be made according to the Business Day Convention. 
 
The Interest Payment Date(s) will be specified in the Final Terms. 

  

Interest Period: The first Interest Period runs from and including the Issue Date to but excluding the first Interest 
Payment Date. The subsequent Interest Periods run from and including an Interest Payment 
Date to but excluding the next Interest Payment Date. The last Interest Payment Date 
corresponds to the Maturity Date. 

  

Interest Rate: Rate of interest applicable to the Bonds; 
 

(i) If Fixed Rate, the Bonds shall bear interest at the percentage rate per annum (based 
on the Day Count Convention)  

 
(ii) If FRN, the Bonds shall bear interest at a rate per annum equal to the Reference Rate 

plus a Margin (based on the Day Count Convention). Interest Rate or Reference Rate 
may be deemed to be zero. 

 
The Interest Rate is specified in Final Terms. 

  

Interest Rate 
Adjustment Date: 

Date(s) for adjusting of the interest rate for bond issue with floating interest rate. 
 
The Interest Rate Adjustment Date will coincide with the Interest Payment Date. 

  

ISIN: International Securities Identification Number for the Bond Issue. ISIN is specified in Final 
Terms. 

  

Issuer: SFL Corporation Ltd. is the Issuer under the Base Prospectus. 

  

Issuer’s Bonds: Means any Bonds which are owned by the Issuer or any affiliate of the Issuer. 

  

Issue Price: The price in percentage of the Denomination, to be paid by the Bondholders at the Issue Date. 
 
Issue price will be specified in Final Terms.  

  

Joint Bookrunner: The bond issue’s joint bookrunner(s), as specified in the Final Terms. 

  

LEI-code: Legal Entity Identifier (LEI), is a 20-character reference code to uniquely identify legally distinct 
entities that engage in financial transactions. 
 
LEI-code is specified in Final Terms. 

  

Listing: Listing of a bond issue on an Exchange is due to the Base Prospectus, any supplement(s) to 
the Base Prospectus and a Final Terms. 
 
An application for listing will be sent after the Disbursement Date and as soon as possible after 
the Prospectus has been approved by the Norwegian FSA. 
 
Bonds listed on an Exchange are freely negotiable. See also Market Making. 

  

Market Making: For Bonds listed on an Exchange, a market-maker agreement between the Issuer and a Joint 
Bookrunner may be entered into.  
 
This will be specified in the Final Terms. 

  

Margin: The margin, specified in percentage points, to be added to the Reference rate. 
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Margin will be specified in the Final terms.  

  

Maturity Date: The date the bond issue is due for payment, if not already redeemed pursuant to Call Option, 
Put Option or Early redemption option due to a tax event. The Maturity Date coincides with the 
last Interest Payment Date and is adjusted in accordance with the Business Day Convention.  
 
The Maturity Date is specified in the Final Terms. 

  

Outstanding Bonds: Means any Bonds not redeemed or otherwise discharged. 
 
The Issuer will issue on the Issue date the first tranche of the bond issue as specified in Final 
Terms. During the term of the bond issue, new tranches may be issued up to the Borrowing 
Limit, as specified in Final Terms. 

  

Paying Agent: The entity designated by the Issuer to be in charge of keeping the records for the bond issue in 
the Securities Depository. 
 
The Paying Agent is specified in the Final Terms. 

  

Prospectus: The Prospectus consists of the Base Prospectus, any supplement(s) to the Base Prospectus 
and the relevant Final Terms prepared in connection with application for listing on an Exchange.  

  

Put Option: The Final Terms may specify that upon the occurrence of a Put Option Event, each Bondholder 
will have the right to require that the Issuer purchases all or some of the Bonds held by that 
Bondholder. 
 
In such case the exercise procedures, the repayment date and put price will be specified in the 
Final Terms. 

  

Put Option Event:  Means a Change of Control Event or a De-Listing Event. 

  

Redemption: The Outstanding Bonds will mature in full on the Maturity Date and shall be redeemed by the 
Issuer on the Maturity Date (if not already redeemed pursuant to Call Option, Put Option or Early 
redemption option due to a tax event) at  
(a) a price equal to 100 per cent. of the Nominal Amount; or 
(b) the Redemption Price if the Issuer does not, on or before the Target Observation Date, deliver 
written evidence (to the Bond Trustee's satisfaction) that the Sustainability Performance Target 
has been met, as confirmed by an External Verifier in accordance with customary procedures. 

  

Redemption Price: The price determined as a percentage of the Denomination to which the bond issue is to be 
redeemed, as specified in the Final Terms. 

  

Reference Rate:  For FRN, the Reference Rate shall be NIBOR or any other rate as specified in the Final Terms, 
which appears on the Relevant Screen Page as at the specified time on the Interest 
Determination Date in question. 
 
The Reference Rate, the Relevant Screen Page, the specified time, information about the past 
and future performance and volatility of the Reference Rate and any fallback provisions will be 
specified in Final Terms.  

  

Relevant Screen Page: For FRN, an internet address or an electronic information platform belonging to a renowed 
provider of Reference Rates. 
 
The Relevant Screen Page will be specified in the Final Terms. 

  

Securities Depository 
/CSD: 

The securities depository in which the bonds are registered, in accordance with the Norwegian 
Act of 2019 no. 6 regarding Securities depository. 
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Unless otherwise specified in the Final Terms, the following Securities Depository will be used: 
Norwegian Central Securities Depository (“Verdipapirsentralen” or ”VPS”), P.O. Box 1174 
Sentrum, 0107 Oslo. 

  

Sustainability Linked 
Financing Framework: 

Means the Issuer's Sustainability Linked Financing Framework as of March 2024 establishing 
the Issuer's sustainability strategy priorities and goals with respect to the Sustainability 
Performance Target. 

  

Sustainability 
Performance Target: 

Means the sustainability performance target in relation to the Group's emission reduction based 
on improving annual year on year efficiency ratio (AER) on weighted fleet averages, as set out 
in the Sustainability Linked Financing Framework. The Sustainability Performance Target shall 
be calculated on average for the years in the period starting with the year 2022 (published in the 
Sustainability Report for the period ending 31 December 2022) until and including the year 2026. 

  

Tap Issues: The Issuer may, provided that the conditions set out in the Bond Terms are met, at one or more 
occasions up until, but excluding, the Maturity Date or any earlier date when the Bonds have 
been redeemed in full, issue Additional Bonds until the aggregate nominal amount of the Bonds 
outstanding equals in aggregate the maximum issue amount (less the aggregate nominal 
amount of any previously redeemed Bonds) 
 
If N/A is specified in the Borrowing Limit in the Final Terms, the Issuer may not make Tap issues 
under the Bond Terms. 

  

Target Observation 
Date: 

Means the date falling one (1) month prior to the Maturity Date, provided that if such date is not 
a Business Day, it shall mean the preceding Business Day. 

  

Temporary Bonds: If the Bonds are listed on an Exchange and there is a requirement for a supplement to the Base 
Prospectus in order for the Additional Bonds to be listed together with the Bonds, the Additional 
Bonds may be issued under a separate ISIN which, upon the approval of the supplement, will 
be converted into the ISIN for the Bonds issued on the initial Issue Date. The Bond Terms 
governs such Temporary Bonds. The Issuer shall inform the Bond Trustee, the Exchange and 
the Paying Agent once such supplement is approved. 

  

Yield: Dependent on the Market Price for bond issue with floating rate. Yield for the first interest period 
can be determined when the interest is known, normally two Business Days before the Issue 
Date. 
  
For bond issue with fixed rate, yield is dependent on the market price and number of Interest 
Payment Date. 
 
The yield is calculated in accordance with «Anbefaling til Konvensjoner for det norske sertifikat- 
og obligasjonsmarkedet» prepared by Forening for finansfag in March 2022: 
https://finansfag.no/wp-content/uploads/2022/06/Rentekonvensjon_oppdatert2022.pdf 
 
Yield is specified in Final Terms. 

 

13.4 General terms and conditions 
These general terms and conditions summarize and describe the general terms and conditions set out in any Bond 
Terms. If these general terms and conditions at any point in time no longer represents the correct understanding of 
the general terms and conditions set out in the Bond Terms, the Bond Terms shall prevail. 

13.4.1 Use of proceeds 
The Issuer will use the net proceeds from the issuance of the Bonds for general corporate purposes. 
 
Other use of proceeds will be specified in the Final Terms. 

https://finansfag.no/wp-content/uploads/2022/06/Rentekonvensjon_oppdatert2022.pdf
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13.4.2 Publication 
This Base Prospectus, any supplement(s) to this Base Prospectus and the Final Terms will be available for 
inspection at the offices of SFL Corporation Ltd., Par-la-Ville Place, 14 Par-la-Ville Road, Hamilton HM 08 Bermuda 
or on the Issuer’s website at www.sflcorp.com. 
 
The Prospectus will be published by a stock exchange announcement. 

13.4.3 Redemption 
Matured interest and matured principal will be credited each Bondholder directly from the Securities Depository. 
Claims for interest and principal shall be limited in time pursuant the Norwegian Act relating to the Limitation Period 
Claims of 18 May 1979 no 18, p.t. 3 years for interest rates and 10 years for principal. 

13.4.4 Fees, Expenses and Tax legislation 
The tax legislation of the investor’s Member State and of the Issuer’s country of incorporation may have an impact 
on the income received from the securities. 

The Issuer shall pay any stamp duty and other public fees in connection with the loan. Any public fees or taxes on 
sales of Bonds in the secondary market shall be paid by the Bondholders, unless otherwise decided by law or 
regulation. The Issuer is responsible for withholding any withholding tax imposed by Norwegian law. 

13.4.5 Security Depository and secondary trading 
The Bonds are electronically registered in book-entry form with the Securities Depository, see also the definition of 
"Securities Depository". Securities Depository is specified in the Final Terms. 
 
Secondary trading will be made over an Exchange for Bonds listed on a marketplace. See also definition of “Market 
Making”. 
 
Prospectus fee for the Base Prospectus including templates for Final Terms is NOK 98,000. In addition, there is a 
listing fee for listing of the Bonds in accordance with the current price list of the Exchange. The listing fees will be 
specified in the Final Terms.  

13.4.6 Status of the Bonds and Security 
The Bonds will constitute senior unsecured debt obligations of the Issuer. The Bonds will rank pari passu between 
themselves and will rank at least pari passu with all other senior obligations of the Issuer other than obligations 
which are mandatorily preferred by law. The Bonds shall rank ahead of subordinated capital. 
 
The Bonds are unsecured. 

13.4.7 Bond Terms 
The Bond Terms has been entered into between the Issuer and the Bond Trustee. The Bond Terms regulates the 
Bondholders’ rights and obligations in relations with the bond issue. The Bond Trustee enters into the Bond Terms 
on behalf of the Bondholders and is granted authority to act on behalf of the Bondholders to the extent provided for 
in the Bond Terms. 
 
By virtue of being registered as a Bondholder (directly or indirectly) with the CSD, the Bondholders are bound by 
the Bond Terms and any other Finance Document, without any further action required to be taken or formalities to 
be complied with by the Bond Trustee, the Bondholders, the Issuer or any other party. 
 
Further information about the Bondholders' rights and obligations, see Section 3 in the Bond Terms. 
 
The Bond Terms will be attached to the Final Terms for each Bond issue and is also available through the Joint 
Bookrunner(s), Issuer and the Bond Trustee. 

http://www.sflcorp.com/
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13.4.8 Legislation 
The Bond Terms are governed by and construed in accordance with Norwegian law. The Company is a corporation 
organised under the laws of Bermuda. The Company operates under the provisions of the Bermuda Companies 
Law of 1981. 

13.4.9 Approvals 
The Bonds will be issued in accordance with the Issuer’s Board of Directors approval. 
 
The date of the Issuer’s Board of Directors approval will be specified in the Final Terms. 
 
The Base Prospectus has been submitted to the Norwegian Financial Supervisory Authority (Finanstilsynet) before 
listing of the Bonds takes place. 
 
Final Terms will be submitted to Finanstilsynet for information in connection with an application for listing of a Bond 
Issue. 
 
The Base prospectus will not be the basis for offers for subscription in bonds that are not subject to a prospectus 
obligation. 

13.4.10 Restrictions on the free transferability of the securities 
Any restrictions on the free transferability of the securities will be specified in the Final Terms. 

13.5 Return and redemption 
Bonds may have return and redemption mechanisms as explained below. The relevant Final Terms refer to these 
mechanisms and provide relevant parameter values for the specific bond issue. 

13.5.1 Bonds with floating rate 
13.5.1.a Return (interest) 
The Interest Rate is specified in Interest Rate ii). Payment of the Interest Rate is calculated on basis of the Day 
Count Convention (b). 
 
Interest Rate or Reference Rate may be deemed to be zero.  
 
The period lengths are equal throughout the term of the Loan, but each Interest Payment Date is adjusted in 
accordance with the Business Day Convention. The Interest Rate for each forthcoming period are determined two 
Business Days prior to each Interest Payment Date based on the then current value of the Reference Rate plus the 
Margin. 
 
The Interest Rate is paid in arrears on each Interest Payment Date. The first Interest Period runs from and including 
the Issue Date to but excluding the first Interest Payment Date. The subsequent Interest Periods run from and 
including an Interest Payment Date to but excluding the next Interest Payment Date. The last Interest Payment 
Date corresponds to the Maturity Date. 
 
The relevant Reference Rate, the Margin, the Interest Payment Dates and the then current Interest Rate will be 
specified in the applicable Final Terms. 
 
Interest calculation method for secondary trading is given by act/360, modified following. 
 
13.5.1.b Redemption 
Redemption is made in accordance with Redemption. 

13.5.2 Bonds with fixed rate 
13.5.2.a Return (interest) 
The interest rate is specified in Interest Rate (i). Payment of the Interest Rate is calculated on basis of the Day 
Count Convention (a).  
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The Interest Rate is paid in arrears on each Interest Payment Date. The first Interest Period runs from and including 
the Issue Date to but excluding the first Interest Payment Date. The subsequent Interest Periods run from and 
including an Interest Payment Date to but excluding the next Interest Payment Date. The last Interest Payment 
Date corresponds to the Maturity Date. 
 
The Interest Rate and the Interest Payment Dates will be specified in the applicable Final Terms. 
 
Interest calculation method for secondary trading is given by act/360 for bond issue with fixed rate. 
 
13.5.2.b Redemption 
Redemption is made in accordance with Redemption. 

13.6 Rating 

The Issuer has not been rated. 

The Bonds have not been rated. 

13.7 Final Terms 

Template for Final Terms for fixed and floating bond issue, see Appendix 2. 
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Cross reference list 
Reference in 
Registration 
Document 

Refers to Details 

11.1 Historical 
Financial 
Information for 
the Company 

Annual Report 2023, available at  
https://ml-
eu.globenewswire.com/Resource/Downl
oad/ef5ed51b-9a5e-4c3b-9bc4-
920dd4bdd024  

Consolidated Statements of Operations, page F-6 
Consolidated Balance Sheets, page F-8 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, page F-9 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements, 
pages F-12 – F-58 

 Annual Report 2022, available at 
https://ml-
eu.globenewswire.com/Resource/Downl
oad/74df2cc1-a8e6-4936-a9c5-
c6fc1fe39d0c  

Consolidated Statements of Operations, page F-4 
Consolidated Balance Sheets, page F-6 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, page F-7 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements, 
pages F-11 – F-62 

 Interim Report Q2 2024, available at 
https://ml-
eu.globenewswire.com/Resource/Downl
oad/c26db10c-cefb-427b-b405-
ad942b5f567d  

Consolidated Statements of Operations, page 8 
Consolidated Balance Sheets, page 9 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, page 10 

11.2 Auditing of 
historical 
annual financial 
information 

Annual Report 2023,, available at  
https://ml-
eu.globenewswire.com/Resource/Downl
oad/ef5ed51b-9a5e-4c3b-9bc4-
920dd4bdd024  

Auditor’s report, pages F2 – F4 

 Annual Report 2022, available at 
https://ml-
eu.globenewswire.com/Resource/Downl
oad/74df2cc1-a8e6-4936-a9c5-
c6fc1fe39d0c  

Auditors’ report, pages F-2 – F-3  

 
References to the documents mentioned above are limited to information given in “Details”, e.g. that the non- 
incorporated parts are either not relevant for the investor or covered elsewhere in the prospectus. 

https://ml-eu.globenewswire.com/Resource/Download/ef5ed51b-9a5e-4c3b-9bc4-920dd4bdd024
https://ml-eu.globenewswire.com/Resource/Download/ef5ed51b-9a5e-4c3b-9bc4-920dd4bdd024
https://ml-eu.globenewswire.com/Resource/Download/ef5ed51b-9a5e-4c3b-9bc4-920dd4bdd024
https://ml-eu.globenewswire.com/Resource/Download/ef5ed51b-9a5e-4c3b-9bc4-920dd4bdd024
https://ml-eu.globenewswire.com/Resource/Download/ef5ed51b-9a5e-4c3b-9bc4-920dd4bdd024
https://ml-eu.globenewswire.com/Resource/Download/42ad7d23-0e56-4062-a2dc-dc980abec433
https://ml-eu.globenewswire.com/Resource/Download/74df2cc1-a8e6-4936-a9c5-c6fc1fe39d0c
https://ml-eu.globenewswire.com/Resource/Download/74df2cc1-a8e6-4936-a9c5-c6fc1fe39d0c
https://ml-eu.globenewswire.com/Resource/Download/74df2cc1-a8e6-4936-a9c5-c6fc1fe39d0c
https://ml-eu.globenewswire.com/Resource/Download/74df2cc1-a8e6-4936-a9c5-c6fc1fe39d0c
https://ml-eu.globenewswire.com/Resource/Download/c26db10c-cefb-427b-b405-ad942b5f567d
https://ml-eu.globenewswire.com/Resource/Download/ef5ed51b-9a5e-4c3b-9bc4-920dd4bdd024
https://ml-eu.globenewswire.com/Resource/Download/ef5ed51b-9a5e-4c3b-9bc4-920dd4bdd024
https://ml-eu.globenewswire.com/Resource/Download/ef5ed51b-9a5e-4c3b-9bc4-920dd4bdd024
https://ml-eu.globenewswire.com/Resource/Download/ef5ed51b-9a5e-4c3b-9bc4-920dd4bdd024
https://ml-eu.globenewswire.com/Resource/Download/ef5ed51b-9a5e-4c3b-9bc4-920dd4bdd024
https://ml-eu.globenewswire.com/Resource/Download/42ad7d23-0e56-4062-a2dc-dc980abec433
https://ml-eu.globenewswire.com/Resource/Download/74df2cc1-a8e6-4936-a9c5-c6fc1fe39d0c
https://ml-eu.globenewswire.com/Resource/Download/74df2cc1-a8e6-4936-a9c5-c6fc1fe39d0c
https://ml-eu.globenewswire.com/Resource/Download/74df2cc1-a8e6-4936-a9c5-c6fc1fe39d0c
https://ml-eu.globenewswire.com/Resource/Download/74df2cc1-a8e6-4936-a9c5-c6fc1fe39d0c
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Annex 1 Memorandum and articles of association 
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Annex 2 Template for Final Terms for fixed and floating rate 
Bonds 
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Final Terms 
 

for 
 

[Title of the bond issue] 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Hamilton (Bermuda), [Date] 
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Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purpose of the conditions set forth in the Base 
Prospectus clauses 2 Definitions and 13.3 Definitions, these Final Terms and the attached Bond Terms. 
 
 
[In case MiFID II identified target market are professional investors and eligible counterparties, insert the following:] 
[MIFID II product governance / Professional investors and eligible counterparties (ECPs) only target market 
– Solely for the purposes of [the/each] manufacturer’s product approval process, the target market assessment in 
respect of the Bonds has led to the conclusion that: (i) the target market for the Bonds is eligible counterparties and 
professional clients only, each as defined in Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended) (MiFID II); and (ii) all channels for 
distribution of the Bonds to eligible counterparties and professional clients are appropriate. [Consider any negative 
target market]. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Bonds (a distributor) should take 
into consideration the manufacturer[’s/s’] target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to MiFID II is 
responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Bonds (by either adopting or refining 
the manufacturer[’s/s’] target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels, subject to the 
distributor's suitability and appropriateness obligations under MiFiD II, as applicable.] 
 
[UK MiFIR product governance / Professional investors and eligible counterparties only (ECPs) target 
market – Solely for the purposes of [the/each] manufacturer’s product approval process, the target market 
assessment in respect of the Bonds has led to the conclusion that: (i) the target market for the Bonds is only eligible 
counterparties, as defined in the FCA Handbook Conduct of Business Sourcebook, and professional clients, as 
defined in Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the European Union 
(Withdrawal) Act 2018 (UK MiFIR); and (ii) all channels for distribution of the Bonds to eligible counterparties and 
professional clients are appropriate. [Consider any negative target market]. Any person subsequently offering, 
selling or recommending the Bonds (a distributor) should take into consideration the manufacturer[’s/s’] target 
market assessment; however, a distributor subject to the FCA Handbook Product Intervention and Product 
Governance Sourcebook (the UK MiFIR Product Governance Rules) is responsible for undertaking its own target 
market assessment in respect of the Bonds (by either adopting or refining the manufacturer[’s/s’] target market 
assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.] 
 
[PROHIBITION OF SALES TO EEA RETAIL INVESTORS – The Bonds are not intended to be offered, sold or 
otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in 
the European Economic Area (EEA). For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: 
(i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; (ii) a customer within the meaning of Directive 
(EU) 2016/97 where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) 
of MiFID II; or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in the Prospectus Regulation (as defined below). Consequently 
no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No. 1286/2014 (as amended) (the PRIIPs Regulation) 
for offering or selling the Bonds or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the EEA has been prepared 
and therefore offering or selling the Bonds or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the EEA may 
be unlawful under the PRIIPs Regulation.] 
 
[PROHIBITION OF SALES TO UK RETAIL INVESTORS – The Bonds are not intended to be offered, sold or 
otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in 
the United Kingdom (UK). For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail 
client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2 of Regulation (EU) No. 2017/565 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue 
of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 (EUWA); (ii) a customer within the meaning of the provisions of FSMA 
and any rules or regulations made under the FSMA to implement Directive (EU) 2016/97, where that customer 
would not qualify as a professional client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2(1) of Regulation (EU) No. 600/2014 as 
it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA; or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in Article 2 of Regulation 
(EU) 2017/1129 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA. Consequently no key information document 
required by Regulation (EU) No. 1286/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA (the UK PRIIPs 
Regulation) for offering or selling the Bonds or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the UK has 
been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Bonds or otherwise making them available to any retail investor 
in the UK may be unlawful under the UK PRIIPs Regulation.] 
 
 
[In case MiFID II identified target market are retail investors, professional investors and eligible counterparties, 
insert the following:] 
[MIFID II product governance / Retail investors, professional investors and eligible counterparties (ECPs) 
target market – Solely for the purposes of [the/each] manufacturer’s product approval process, the target market 
assessment in respect of the Bonds has led to the conclusion that: (i) the target market for the Bonds is eligible 
counterparties, professional clients and retail clients, each as defined in Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended) (MiFID 
II); EITHER [and (ii) all channels for distribution of the Bonds are appropriate[, including investment advice, portfolio 
management, non-advised sales and pure execution services]] OR [(ii) all channels for distribution to eligible 
counterparties and professional clients are appropriate; and (iii) the following channels for distribution of the Bonds 
to retail clients are appropriate – investment advice[,/and] portfolio management[,/ and][non-advised sales][and pure 
execution services][, subject to the distributor’s suitability and appropriateness obligations under MiFID II, as 
applicable]]. [Consider any negative target market]. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the 
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Bonds (a distributor) should take into consideration the manufacturer[’s/s’] target market assessment; however, a 
distributor subject to MiFID II is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the 
Bonds (by either adopting or refining the manufacturer[‘s/s’] target market assessment) and determining appropriate 
distribution channels[, subject to the distributor’s suitability and appropriateness obligations under MiFID II, as 
applicable].] 
 
[UK MiFIR product governance / Retail investors, professional investors and eligible counterparties target 
market – Solely for the purposes of [the/each] manufacturer’s product approval process, the target market 
assessment in respect of the Bonds has led to the conclusion that: (i) the target market for the Bonds is retail clients, 
as defined in point (8) of Article 2 of Regulation (EU) 2017/565 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the 
European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 (EUWA), and eligible counterparties, as defined in the FCA Handbook 
Conduct of Business Sourcebook (COBS), and professional clients, as defined in Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as 
it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA (UK MiFIR); EITHER [and (ii) all channels for distribution of the 
Bonds are appropriate, including investment advice, portfolio management, non-advised sales and pure execution 
services] OR [(ii) all channels for distribution to eligible counterparties and professional clientsare appropriate; and 
(iii) the following channels for distribution of the Bonds to retail clients are appropriate – investment advice[,/and] 
portfolio management[,/ and][non-advised sales][and pure execution services][, subject to the distributor’s (as 
defined below) suitability and appropriateness obligations under COBS, as applicable]]. [Consider any negative 
target market]. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Bonds (a distributor) should take 
into consideration the manufacturer[’s/s’] target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to FCA 
Handbook Product Intervention and Product Governance Sourcebook (the UK MiFIR Product Governance Rules) 
is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Bonds (by either adopting or 
refining the manufacturer[’s/s’] target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels[, 
subject to the distributor’s suitability and appropriateness obligations under COBS, as applicable].] 
 
This document constitutes the Final Terms of the Bonds described herein pursuant to the Regulation (EU) 
2017/1129 and must be read in conjunction with the Base Prospectus dated [●] 2024 [and the supplement[s] to the 
Base Prospectus dated [date]].  
 
The Base Prospectus dated [●] 2024 [and the supplement[s] to the Base Prospectus dated [date]] [together] 
constitute[s] a base prospectus for the purposes of the Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 ([together,] the “Base 
Prospectus”). 
 
Final Terms include a summary of each Bond Issue. 
 
These Final Terms and the Base Prospectus [and the supplement[s] to the Base Prospectus] are available on the 
Issuer's website https://www.sflcorp.com/, or on the Issuer's visit address, Par-la-Ville Place, 14 Par-la-Ville Road, 
Hamilton HM 08 Bermuda, or their successor(s). 
 
 

https://www.sflcorp.com/
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1 Summary  
The below summary has been prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements in Article 7in the Regulation 
(EU) 2017/1129 as of 14 June 2017. 
 
A – Introduction and warning 

Warning This summary should be read as introduction to the Base 
Prospectus. Any decision to invest in the securities should be 
based on consideration of the Base Prospectus as a whole by the 
investor. The investor could lose all or part of the invested capital.  
Where a claim relating to the information contained in the Base 
Prospectus is brought before a court, the plaintiff investor might, 
under the national law, have to bear the costs of translating the 
Base Prospectus before the legal proceedings are initiated. Civil 
liability attaches only to those persons who have tabled the 
summary including any translation thereof, but only where the 
summary is misleading, inaccurate or inconsistent, when read 
together with the other parts of the Base Prospectus, or where it 
does not provide, when read together with the other parts of the 
prospectus, key information in order to aid investors when 
considering whether to invest in such securities. 

Name and international securities 
identification number (‘ISIN’) of the securities. 

[●] 

Identity and contact details of the issuer, 
including its legal entity identifier (‘LEI’). 

SFL Corporation Ltd.,  
Par-la-Ville Place, 
14 Par-la-Ville Road 
Hamilton HM 08 Bermuda 
Telephone: +1 441 295 9500 
 
Registration number EC-34296 in the Registrar of Companies in 
Bermuda. 
LEI-code ((legal entity identifier): 549300RLYYPSB0C7RH77. 

Identity and contact details of the offeror or of 
the person asking for admission to trading on 
a regulated market. 

There is no offeror, the Base Prospectus has been produced in 
connection with listing of the securities on an Exchange. The Issuer 
is going to ask for admission to trading on a regulated market. 

Identity and contact details of the competent 
authority that approved the prospectus 

Financial Supervisory Authority of Norway (Finanstilsynet), and 
registered address at Revierstredet 3, 0151 Oslo.   
Telephone number is +47 22 93 98 00.  
E-mail: prospekter@finanstilsynet.no. 

Date of approval of the prospectus. The Base Prospectus was approved on [●] 2024. 

 
B – Key information on the Issuer 

Who is the issuer of the securities 
 

Domicile and legal form The Company is a corporation organized under the laws of 
Bermuda. The Company operates under the provisions of the 
Bermuda Companies Law of 1981. 

Principal activities SFL is an international asset owning and chartering company with 
a large and diverse asset base across the maritime and offshore 
industries. 

Major shareholders  

To the Issuer’s knowledge, the ownership of our Common Shares with respect to each shareholder who beneficially 
own five percent or more of our outstanding Common Shares is as follows: 
 

Owner Number of Common Shares Precent of Common Shares 

Hemen Holding Limited [25,728,687] [17.5]% 

 
There are no arrangements, known to the Company, the operation of which may at a subsequent date result in a 
change in control of the Company.  
 

Management  

 

Name  Position  

Ole B. Hjertaker Chief Executive Officer 

Aksel C. Olesen Chief Financial Officer 

mailto:prospekter@finanstilsynet.no
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Trym Otto Sjølie Chief Operating Officer 

Thecla Panagides Chief Accounting Officer 

André Reppen Chief Treasurer & Senior Vice President 

Jannicke Eilertsen Compliance Officer 

Mikkel Storm Weum Senior Vice President, Business Development 

Marius Furuly Vice President, Finance & Investor Relations 

 
 

Statutory auditors Ernst & Young AS, and have its registered address at Stortorvet 7, 
0155 Oslo, Norway. 
The partners of EY are members of Den Norske Revisorforeningen 
(the Norwegian Institute of Public Accountants). 
 

What is the key financial information regarding the issuer 

 
SFL Corporation Ltd consolidated financial statements: 
 

Amounts in thousands of USD Annual Report Interim report 

 2022 2023 Q2 2024 

Net operating income 275,474 240,184 147,700 

Net financial debt (long term debt plus 
short term debt minus cash) 

2,498,270 2,417,537 2,504,712 

Net Cash flows from operating 
activities 

355,125 343,089 187,430 

Net Cash flows from financing 
activities 

178,365 -262,065 29,078 

Net Cash flow from investing activities -499,088 -103,894 -195,938 
 

There is no description of any qualifications in the audit report for the Annual Report 2023. 

What are the key risk factors that are specific to the issuer 

Most material key risk factors   

• Cyclicality and volatility within the maritime industry may 
lead to reduced revenues and profitability 

• Cyclicality and competition within the offshore contract 
drilling industry 

• Financial instability and increasing ESG scrutiny may 
result in reduced access to financing  

• Risks of terrorism and political and social unrest could 
have a material adverse impact on the Company’s 
business, financial condition, results of operations and 
ability to pay coupons, debt installments and/or dividends 

• Government regulation of vessels, particularly in the areas 
of safety and environmental requirements, can be 
expected to become stricter in the future and require the 
Company to incur significant capital expenditures on its 
vessels to keep them in compliance, or even to scrap or 
sell certain vessels altogether 

• The Company is exposed to litigation risks 

• The Bonds may not comply with future sustainability-
linked bond standards 

• If counterparties were to breach their obligations to SFL 
under any of these agreements, the Company’s 
shareholders and bondholders would have to rely on SFL 
to pursue its remedies against those counterparties 

• Interest rates give rise to changes in the valuations of 
interest rate swaps and could adversely affect the results 
of the Company’s operations and other comprehensive 
income 

• Restrictions in the Company's financial indebtedness and 
risk related to market value of vessels and drilling units 
may unable the Company to make distributions to its 
shareholders 
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C – Key information on the securities 

What are the main features of the securities? 

Description of the securities, including ISIN 
code. 

[●] 

Currency for the bond issue [●] 
Borrowing Limit and Borrowing Amount  
 [● tranche] 

[●] 

Denomination – Each Bond [●] 

Any restrictions on the free transferability of 
the securities. 

[●] 

Description of the rights attached to the 
securities, limitations to those rights and 
ranking of the securities. 

[●] 

Information about Issue and Maturity Date, 
interest rate, instalment and representative of 
the bondholders 

[●] 

Status of the bonds and security [●] 

Where will the securities be traded? 

Indication as to whether the securities offered 
are or will be the object of an application for 
admission to trading. 

[●]  

What are the key risks that are specific to the 
securities 

 
• Volatility in price, illiquidity in the market and callable 
bonds 
• Significant cash requirement to meet debt obligations and sustain 
operations 
• The Issuer may have insufficient funds to make required 
redemptions or repurchases of the Bonds 
• Restrictive covenants may lead to inability to finance 
operations, capital needs and to pursue business opportunities 
• Level of subordination of the Bonds 
• Risks related to action against the Company and Bondholders’ 
representation. 

Most material key risks  

 
D – Key information on the admission to trading on a regulated marked 

 Under which conditions and timetable can I invest in this security? 
 

Terms and conditions for the offer Not applicable. The Bonds have not been subject to a public 
offer. 
 
 

Why is the prospectus being produced? 

Admission to trading The Base Prospectus is produced in connection with listing of 
the Bonds on the Oslo Børs. 

Reasons for the admission to trading on a 
regulated marked and use of proceeds. 

Use of proceeds: [●] 
 
Estimated net amount of the proceeds [●] 
 

Description of material conflicts of interest to 
the issue including conflicting interests. 

[●] 
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2 Detailed information about the security 
 
Generally:  
ISIN code: [ISIN] 
  
The Loan/The Bonds: [Title of the bond issue] 
  
Borrower/Issuer: SFL Corporation Ltd is registered with the Registrar of Companies in 

Bermuda with registration number EC-34296. The Company’s LEI code is 
549300RLYYPSB0C7RH77. 

  
Group: Means the Issuer and its subsidiaries from time to time. 

 
Security Type: Unsecured [open] bond issue with [fixed/floating] rate 

 
Borrowing Limit – Tap Issue: [Currency]  [Amount borrowing limit]  
  
Borrowing Amount [●] tranche: [Currency]    [Amount [●] tranche]  
    
Denomination – Each bond: [Currency] [Amount denomination] - each and ranking pari 

passu among themselves 
  
Securities Form: As set out in the Base Prospectus clause 13.1. 
  
Publication: As specified in the Base Prospectus section 13.4.2. 
  
Issue Price: [As defined in the Base Prospectus section 13.3 

 
[Issue price] % 

  
Disbursement Date/Issue Date: [As defined in the Base Prospectus section 13.3 

 
[Issue date] 

  
Maturity Date: [As defined in the Base Prospectus section 13.3 

 
[Maturity Date] 

  
Interest Rate:  
Interest Bearing from and Including: [Issue date 

 
/ Other: (specify)] 

  
Interest Bearing To: [As defined in the Base Prospectus section 13.3 

 
[Maturity Date] 
 
/ Other: (specify)] 

  
Reference Rate: [As defined in the Base Prospectus section 13.3 

 
Floating rate: [NIBOR] [3 / 6 / 12] months  
 
[description of Reference Rate] 
 
Relevant Screen Page: [Relevant Screen Page] 
 
Specified time: [specified time] 
 
Information about the past and future performance and volatility of the 
Reference Rate is available at [Relevant Screen Page / other: (specify)] 
 
Fallback provisions: [Provisions] 
 
/ Other: (specify)] 
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/ Fixed Rate: N/A] 
  
Margin: [As defined in the Base Prospectus section 13.3 

 
Floating Rate: [Margin] % p.a. 
 
/ Fixed Interest: N/A 
 
/ Other: (specify)] 

  
Interest Rate: [Bond issue with floating rate (as defined in the Base Prospectus section 

13.3): [Reference Rate + Margin]  
 
Current Interest Rate: [current interest rate] % p.a. 
 
/ Bond Issue with fixed rate (as defined in the Base Prospectus section 
13.3): [Interest rate] % p.a. 
 

  
Day Count Convention: [Floating Rate: As defined in the Base Prospectus section 13.3 

/ Fixed Rate: As defined in the Base Prospectus section 13.3 
 

  
Day Count Fraction – Secondary 
Market: 

[Floating Rate: As specified in the Base Prospectus section 13.5.1.a 
/ Fixed Rate: As specified in the Base Prospectus section 13.5.2.a  
 

  
Interest Determination Date: [Floating Rate: As defined in the Base Prospectus section 13.3.  

 
Interest Rate Determination Date: [Interest Rate Determination Date(s)] 
each year.  
 
/ Fixed rate: N/A 
 
/ Other: (specify)] 

  
Interest Rate Adjustment Date: [Floating Rate: As defined in the Base Prospectus section 13.3.  

 
/ Fixed rate: N/A] 

  
Interest Payment Date: As defined in the Base Prospectus section 13.3 and specified in the Base 

Prospectus section 13.5.1 (FRN) / section 13.5.2 (fixed rate) 
 
Interest Payment Date: [Date(s)] each year.  
 
The first Interest Payment Date is [Date].  

  
#Days first term: [Number of interest days] days 
  
Yield: As defined in the Base Prospectus section 13.3. 

 
The Yield is [yield]  

  
Business Day: As defined in the Base Prospectus section 13.3. 

 
/ Other: (specify)] 

  
Amortisation and Redemption:  
Redemption: As defined in the Base Prospectus section 13.3 and as specified in the 

Base Prospectus section 13.4.3, 13.5.1.b and 13.5.2.b. 
 
The Maturity Date is [maturity date] 
 
Redemption Price is [redemption price] % 

  
Call Option: As defined in the Base Prospectus section 13.3. 
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[terms of the call option] 
 
Call Date(s): [call date(s)] 
 
Call Price(s): [call price(s)] 
 
Call Notice Period: [call notice period] 
 

Put Option: As defined in the Base Prospectus section 13.3. 
 
[terms of the put option] 
 

Early redemption option due to a tax 
event: 

As defined in the Base Prospectus section 13.3. 
 
[terms of the early redemption option] 
 

  
Obligations:  
Issuer’s special obligations during the 
term of the Bond Issue: 

As specified in the Base Prospectus section 13.4.7. 
 
/ Other: (specify)] 

  
Listing:  
Listing of the Bond Issue/Marketplace: As defined in the Base Prospectus section 13.3 and specified in the Base 

Prospectus section 13.4.5. 
 
Exchange for listing of the Bonds: [Exchange] 
 
/ The Bonds will not be applied for listing on any Exchange. 
 
/ Other: (specify)] 

  
Any restrictions on the free 
transferability of the securities: 
 

As specified in the Base prospectus section 13.4.10. 
 
Restrictions on the free transferability of the securities: [specify] 

  
Purpose/Use of proceeds: As specified in the Base Prospectus section 13.4.1. 

 
Estimated total expenses related to the offer: [specify] 
 
Estimated net amount of the proceeds: [specify] 
 
Use of proceeds: [specify] 
 
[Other: (specify)] 

  
Fees, Expenses and Tax legislation As defined in the Base Prospectus section 13.3 and specified in the Base 

Prospectus section 13.4.5. 
 
Listing fees: [specify] 
 
/ Other: (specify)] 

  
Market-making: As defined in the Base Prospectus section 13.3. 

 
[A market-making agreement has been entered into between the Issuer 
and [name of market maker]] 
 
/ Other: (specify)] 

  
Approvals: As specified in the Base Prospectus section 13.4.9. 

 
Date of the Board of Directors’ approval: [date] 
 
/ Other: (specify)] 
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Bond Terms: As defined in the Base Prospectus section 13.3 and specified in the Base 
Prospectus section 13.4.7.  
 
By virtue of being registered as a Bondholder (directly or indirectly) with 
the CSD, the Bondholders are bound by the Bond Terms and any other 
Finance Document, without any further action required to be taken or 
formalities to be complied with by the Bond Trustee, the Bondholders, the 
Issuer or any other party. 
 
/ Other: (specify)] 

  
Status and security: As specified in the Base Prospectus section 13.4.5.  

 
/ Other: (specify)] 

  
Bondholders’ meeting/ 
Voting rights: 

As defined in the Base Prospectus section 13.3. 
 
/ Other: (specify)] 

  
Availability of the Documentation: https://www.sflcorp.com  

  
Joint Lead Managers and Joint 
Bookrunners: 

[name of lead manager/joint bookrunners] as [type of 
manager/bookrunner] 

  
Co-Managers: [name of co-managers] as [type of manager] 

 
Bond Trustee: As defined in the Base prospectus section 13.3. 

 
Paying Agent: As defined in the Base prospectus section 13.3. 

 
The Paying Agent is [name and address of the Paying Agent] 

  
Securities Depository / CSD: As defined in the Base Prospectus section 13.3 and specified in the Base 

Prospectus section 13.4.5 
 
/ Other: (specify)] 

  
Calculation Agent: [As defined in the Base Prospectus section 13.3 

 
/ Other: (specify)]  

  

https://www.sflcorp.com/
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3 Additional information 
Advisor 
The Issuer has mandated [name of joint bookrunners, joint lead manager and co-managers] as [type of bookrunner 
and manager] for the issuance of the Loan. The [type of bookrunner and manager] [has/have] acted as advisor[s] 
to the Issuer in relation to the pricing of the Loan. 
 
The [type of bookrunner and manager] will be able to hold position in the Loan.  
 
/ Other: (specify)] 
 
Interests and conflicts of interest 
[The involved persons in the Issuer or offer of the Bonds have no interest, nor conflicting interests that are material 
to the Bond Issue. 
 
/ Other: (specify)] 
 
Rating 
[There is no official rating of the Loan. 
 
The Issuer is rated as follows: 
Standard & Poor’s: [•] 
Moody’s: [•] 
 
/ Other: (specify)]  
 
Listing of the Loan: 
[As defined in the Base Prospectus section 13.3] 
 
The Prospectus will be published in [country]. An application for listing at [Exchange] will be sent as soon as possible 
after the Issue Date. Each bond is negotiable. 
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Annex 3 Subsidiaries 
 

Significant Subsidiaries 
 
The table below lists the Company's significant subsidiaries as of the date of this Base Prospectus: 
 

Marshall Islands Subsidiaries 

 Name Jurisdiction of Incorporation 

1.  SFL Capsan Holding Ltd. Marshall Islands 

2.  SFL Vincent Inc. Marshall Islands 

3.  SFL Lazaro Inc. Marshall Islands 

4.  SFL Juan Inc. Marshall Islands 

5.  SFL Sicily Holding Inc. Marshall Islands 

6.  SFL Sicily Inc. Marshall Islands 

7.  SFL Santorini Holding Inc. Marshall Islands 

8.  SFL Santorini Inc.  Marshall Islands 

9.  SFL Shikoku Holding Inc. Marshall Islands 

10.  SFL Shikoku Inc. Marshall Islands 

11.  SFL Tiger Holding Inc. Marshall Islands 

12.  SFL Tiger Inc. Marshall Islands 

13.  SFL Puma Holding Inc. Marshall Islands 

14.  SFL Puma Inc. Marshall Islands 

15.  SFL Panther Holding Inc. Marshall Islands 

16.  SFL Panther Inc. Marshall Islands 

17.  SFL Lion Holding Inc. Marshall Islands 

18.  SFL Lion Inc. Marshall Islands 

19.  SFL Arabian Sea Holding Inc. Marshall Islands 

20.  SFL Arabian Sea Inc. Marshall Islands 

21.  SFL Thelon Holding Inc. Marshall Islands 

22.  SFL Thelon Inc. Marshall Islands 

23.  SFL Ottawa Holding Inc. Marshall Islands 

24.  SFL Ottawa Inc.  Marshall Islands 

25.  SFL Fraser Holding Inc. Marshall Islands 

26.  SFL Fraser Inc. Marshall Islands 

27.  SFL Albany Holding Inc. Marshall Islands 

28.  SFL Albany Inc. Marshall Islands 

29.  SFL Tucana Holding Inc. Marshall Islands 

30.  SFL Tucana Inc. Marshall Islands 

31.  SFL Taurus Holding Inc. Marshall Islands 

32.  SFL Taurus Inc. Marshall Islands 

33.  SFL Tigris Holding Inc. Marshall Islands 

34.  SFL Tigris Inc. Marshall Islands 
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Liberian Subsidiaries 

 Name Jurisdiction  

1.  

 

SFL Hudson Inc. Liberia 

2.  SFL Yukon Inc. Liberia 

3.  SFL Sara Inc. Liberia 

4.  SFL Humber Inc. Liberia 

5.  SFL Kate Inc. Liberia 

6.  SFL Composer Inc. Liberia 

7.  SFL Conductor Inc. Liberia 

8.  SFL Loire Inc. Liberia 

9.  SFL Seine Inc. Liberia 

10.  SFL Somme Inc. Liberia 

11.  SFL Taurion Inc. Liberia 

12.  SFL Kenai Holding Inc. Liberia 

13.  SFL Kenai Inc. Liberia 

14.  SFL Crolly Holding Inc. Liberia 

15.  SFL Crolly Inc. Liberia 

16.  SFL Rufina Inc Liberia 

17.  SFL Rosanna Inc. Liberia 

18.  SFL Romana Inc. Liberia 

19.  SFL Roberta Inc. Liberia 

20.  SFL Ricarda Inc. Liberia 

21.  SFL Rebecca Inc. Liberia 

22.  SFL Rafaela Inc. Liberia 

23.  SFL Battersea Inc Liberia 

24.  SFL Beijing Inc. Liberia 

25.  SFL Belgravia Inc. Liberia 

26.  SFL China Inc Liberia 

27.  SFL Future Inc Liberia 

28.  SFL Magnum Inc. Liberia 

29.  SFL Zheijang Inc. Liberia 

30.  SFL Zhoushan Inc Liberia 

31.  SFL Sarat Inc. Liberia 

32.  SFL Shivling Holding Inc. Liberia 

33.  SFL Shivling Inc. Liberia 

34.  SFL Skarstind Holding Inc. Liberia 

35.  SFL Skarstind Inc. Liberia 

36.  SFL Sabine Inc. Liberia 

37.  SFL Trinity Inc. Liberia 

38.  SFL Axia Inc. Liberia 

39.  SFL Doxa Inc. Liberia 

40.  SFL Mana Inc. Liberia 
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41.  SFL Tyhi Inc. Liberia 

42.  SFL Elpida Holding Inc. Liberia 

43.  SFL Elpida Inc. Liberia 

44.  SFL Patris Holding Inc. Liberia 

45.  SFL Patris Inc. Liberia 

46.  SFL Ace 1 Holding Inc. Liberia 

47.  SFL Ace 1 Company Inc. Liberia 

48.  SFL Ace 2 Holding Inc. Liberia 

49.  SFL Ace 2 Company Inc. Liberia 

50.  Rig Holding Linus Inc. Liberia 

51.  River Box Holding Inc. Liberia 

52.  SFL Zambezi Holding Inc. Liberia 

53.  SFL Zambezi Inc. Liberia 

54.  SFL PCTC Holding Inc. Liberia 

55.  SFL Wolfsburg Inc. Liberia 

56.  SFL Emden Inc. Liberia 

57.  SFL PCTC Hull No. 21110059 Holding Inc. Liberia 

58.  SFL PCTC Hull No. 21110059 Inc.  Liberia 

59.  SFL PCTC Hull No. 21110060 Holding Inc. Liberia 

60.  SFL PCTC Hull No. 21110060 Inc. Liberia 

61.  SFL Hawaii Holding Inc. 
 

Liberia 

62.  SFL Hawaii Inc. 
 

Liberia 

63.  SFL Maui Holding Inc. 
 

Liberia 

64.  SFL Maui Inc. 
 

Liberia 

65.  SFL Phuket Holding Inc. 
 

Liberia 

66.  SFL Phuket Inc. 
 

Liberia 

67.  SFL Pelepas Holding Inc. 
 

Liberia 

68.  SFL Pelepas Inc. 
 

Liberia 
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Annex 4 Complete fleet list 
 

Type  Vessel  Charterer  Built  Capacity  Backlog  

Bulk SFL Yangtze Short term 2012 82.000 DWT  

Bulk SFL Yukon Short term 2010 57.000 DWT  

Bulk SFL Sara Short term 2011 57.000 DWT  

Bulk SFL Kate  Short Term 2011 57.000 DWT  

Bulk SFL Humber Short Term 2012 57.000 DWT  

Bulk SFL Hudson Short term 2010 57.000 DWT  

Bulk SFL Pearl Short term 2012 82.000 DWT  

Bulk KSL China Golden Ocean 2013 180.000 DWT Q3 2025 

Bulk Golden Zhoushan Golden Ocean 2011 176.000 DWT Q3 2028 

Bulk Golden Zhejiang Golden Ocean 2010 176.000 DWT Q3 2025 

Bulk Golden Magnum Golden Ocean 2009 180.000 DWT Q3 2028 

Bulk Golden Future Golden Ocean 2010 176.000 DWT Q3 2025 

Bulk Golden Beijing Golden Ocean 2010 176.000 DWT Q3 2028 

Bulk Belgravia Golden Ocean 2009 170.000 DWT Q3 2025 

Bulk Battersea  Golden Ocean 2009 170.000 DWT Q3 2025 

Car Carriers Arabian Sea Eukor 2010 4.900 CEU Q3 2028 

Car Carriers Thor Highway K Line 2024 7.000 CEU Q2 2034 

Car Carriers Odin Highway K Line 2024 7.000 CEU Q1 2034 

Car Carriers Wolfsburg Volkswagen 2023 7.000 CEU Q3 2033 

Car Carriers Emden Volkswagen 2023 7.000 CEU Q2 2033 

Car Carriers SFL Conductor Volkswagen 2006 6.500 CEU Q4 2026 

Car Carriers SFL Composer Volkswagen 2005 6.500 CEU Q1 2027 

Chemical SFL Bonaire Stolt-Nielsen 2023 33.000 DWT Q3 2032 

Chemical SFL Aruba Stolt-Nielsen 2022 33.000 DWT Q3 2032 

Container 
16,800 TEU DF 

Newbuild 5 

Leading Container line  16,800 TEU Q4 2038 

Container 
16,800 TEU DF 

Newbuild 4 

Leading Container line  16,800 TEU Q3 2038 

Container 
16,800 TEU DF 

Newbuild 3 

Leading Container line  16,800 TEU Q3 2038 

Container 
16,800 TEU DF 

Newbuild 2 

Leading Container line  16,800 TEU Q3 2038 

Container 
16,800 TEU DF 

Newbuild 1 

Leading Container line  16800 TEU Q1 2038 

Container Maersk Pelepas  Maersk 2022 2.500 TEU Q4 2029 

Container Maersk Phuket Maersk 2022 2.500 TEU Q3 2029 

Container Baltimore Express Hapag-Lloyd 2014 15.400 TEU Q1 2029 

Container Savannah Express Hapag-Lloyd 2014 15.400 TEU Q4 2028 

Container SFL Hawaii  Maersk 2014 6.800 TEU Q1 2028 

Container SFL Maui Maersk 2013 6.800 TEU Q4 2027 

Container Maersk Zambezi  Maersk 2020 5.300 TEU Q3 2028 

Container MSC Reef  MSC 2016 19.400 TEU Q3 2033 

Container MSC Erica MSC 2016 19.400 TEU Q4 2033 

Container Cap San Juan Maersk 2015 10.600 TEU Q4 2030 

https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/sfl-yangtze/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/sfl-yukon/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/sfl-sara/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/sfl-kate/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/sfl-humber/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/sfl-hudson/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/sfl-pearl/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/ksl-china/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/golden-zhoushan/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/golden-zhejiang/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/golden-magnum/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/golden-future/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/golden-beijing/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/belgravia/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/battersea/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/arabian-sea/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/tbn-df-pctc-nb-4/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/odin-highway/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/wolfsburg/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/emden/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/golvis-conductor/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/sfl-composer/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/tbn-2/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/tbn/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/16800-teu-df-newbuild-5/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/16800-teu-df-newbuild-5/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/16800-teu-df-newbuild-4/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/16800-teu-df-newbuild-4/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/16800-teu-df-newbuild-3/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/16800-teu-df-newbuild-3/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/16800-teu-df-newbuild-1-2/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/16800-teu-df-newbuild-1-2/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/16800-teu-df-newbuild-1/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/16800-teu-df-newbuild-1/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/maersk-pelepas/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/maersk-phuket/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/thalassa-elpida/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/savannah-express/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/sfl-hawaii/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/sfl-maui/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/tbn-maersk-zambezi/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/msc-reef/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/msc-erica/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/cap-san-juan/
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Type  Vessel  Charterer  Built  Capacity  Backlog  

Container Cap San Vincent Maersk 2015 10.600 TEU Q3 2030 

Container Cap San Lazaro Maersk 2015 10.600 TEU Q3 2030 

Container Vancouver Express Hapag-Lloyd 2014 15.400 TEU Q4 2029 

Container Oakland Express Hapag-Lloyd 2014 15.400 TEU Q3 2029 

Container Atlanta Express Hapag-Lloyd 2014 15.400 TEU Q3 2029 

Container Houston Express Hapag-Lloyd 2014 15.400 TEU Q3 2029 

Container MSC Vaishnavi R. MSC 2002 4.100 TEU Q3 2025 

Container Maersk Skarstind Maersk 2016 9.500 TEU Q3 2025 

Container San Francisca Maersk 2015 8.700 TEU Q2 2030 

Container San Fernando Maersk 2014 8.700 TEU Q1 2030 

Container San Felix Maersk 2014 8.700 TEU Q1 2030 

Container San Felipe Maersk 2014 8.700 TEU Q4 2029 

Container MSC Zlata R. MSC 2002 4.100 TEU Q3 2025 

Container MSC Viviana MSC 2017 19.200 TEU Q1 2032 

Container MSC Vidisha R MSC 2002 4.100 TEU Q3 2025 

Container MSC Katya R. MSC 2002 4.100 TEU Q3 2025 

Container MSC Julia R. MSC 2002 4.100 TEU Q3 2025 

Container MSC Arushi R. MSC 2002 4.100 TEU Q3 2025 

Container MSC Anna MSC 2016 19.200 TEU Q4 2031 

Container MSC Anisha R. MSC 2002 4.100 TEU Q3 2025 

Container Maersk Shivling Maersk 2016 9.300 TEU Q4 2025 

Container Maersk Sarat  Maersk 2015 9.500 TEU Q3 2025 

Container Asian Ace Maersk 2005 1.700 TEU Q2 2025 

Container Green Ace  Short term 2005 1.700 TEU  

Jack Up Linus 

ConocoPhillips 

Skandinavia AS 
2014 450 ft Q4 2028 

Product tanker SFL Tigris Vitol 2024 115.000 DWT Q4 2029 

Product tanker SFL Taurus Vitol 2024 115.000 DWT Q3 2029 

Product tanker SFL Tucana Vitol 2024 115.000 DWT Q2 2029 

Product tanker SFL Puma Trafigura 2015 115.000 DWT Q4 2026 

Product tanker SFL Panther Trafigura 2015 115.000 DWT Q1 2027 

Product tanker SFL Tiger Trafigura 2015 115.000 DWT Q4 2026 

Product tanker SFL Lion Trafigura 2014 115.000 DWT Q1 2027 

Product tanker SFL Trinity Phillips 66 2017 114.000 DWT Q3 2025 

Product tanker SFL Sabine Phillips 66 2017 114.000 DWT Q3 2024 

Semi-submersible Hercules  Equinor 2008 10.000 ft Q4 2024 

Suezmax SFL Albany Koch 2020 160.000 DWT Q4 2028 

Suezmax SFL Fraser Koch 2020 160.000 DWT Q4 2028 

Suezmax SFL Thelon Koch 2015 160.000 DWT Q3 2028 

Suezmax SFL Ottawa Koch 2015 160.000 DWT Q3 2028 

Suezmax Marlin Shikoku Trafigura 2019 150.000 DWT Q1 2027 

Suezmax Marlin Santorini Trafigura 2019 150.000 DWT Q4 2026 

Suezmax Marlin Sicily Trafigura 2019 150.000 DWT Q1 2027 

 
The Charter backlog illustrations are based on the fixed charter period, excluding any options, and the information may change 
without notice. Vessels on short term charters (<1 year) are shown as “short term contract”. Some charters have purchase 
options that will if exercised reduce the contracted backlog. The data is for illustrational purposes only and SFL is not 
responsible for the accuracy and reliability of the data. 

https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/cap-san-vincent/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/cap-san-lazaro/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/thalassa-axia/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/thalassa-doxa/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/thalassa-tyhi/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/thalassa-mana/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/msc-vaishnavi/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/maersk-skarstind/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/san-francisca/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/san-fernando/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/san-felix/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/san-felipe/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/msc-zlata-r/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/msc-viviana/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/msc-vidisha-r/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/msc-katya-r/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/msc-julia-r/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/msc-arushi-r/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/msc-anna/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/msc-anisha-r/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/maersk-shivling/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/maersk-sarat/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/heung-a-green/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/green-ace/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/west-linus/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/sfl-tigris/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/sfl-taurus/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/sfl-tucana/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/sfl-puma/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/sfl-panther/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/sfl-tiger/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/sfl-lion/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/sfl-trinity/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/sfl-sabine/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/hercules/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/sfl-albany/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/sfl-fraser/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/sfl-thelon/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/sfl-ottawa/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/marlin-shikoku/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/marlin-santorini/
https://www.sflcorp.com/fleet/marlin-sicily/
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Annex 5 Contracted charter backlog 
 

 


